

### UNIVERSIDADE DO ALGARVE

### FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIAS

# Application of experimental design in the preparation of Chitosan/Carrageenan nanoparticles by polyelectrolyte complexation: Study of the effect of salt addition

Inês Rocheta de Almeida Vasques da Silva

Dissertação para obtenção do grau de Mestre em Ciências Farmacêuticas

Trabalho efetuado sob a orientação da Professora Doutora Ana Margarida Moutinho Grenha e coorientação da Professora Doutora Ana Maria dos Santos Rosa da Costa



### UNIVERSIDADE DO ALGARVE

### FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIAS

# Application of experimental design in the preparation of Chitosan/Carrageenan nanoparticles by polyelectrolyte complexation: Study of the effect of salt addition

Inês Rocheta de Almeida Vasques da Silva

Dissertação para obtenção do grau de Mestre em Ciências Farmacêuticas

Trabalho efetuado sob a orientação da Professora Doutora Ana Margarida Moutinho Grenha e coorientação da Professora Doutora Ana Maria dos Santos Rosa da Costa

#### Declaração de autoria de trabalho

Declaro ser a autora deste trabalho, que é original e inédito. Autores e trabalhos consultados estão devidamente citados no texto e constam da listagem de referências incluída.

Imês Rocheta Silva

Copyright © Inês Rocheta de Almeida Vasques da Silva.

A Universidade do Algarve tem o direito, perpétuo e sem limites geográficos, de arquivar e publicitar este trabalho através de exemplares impressos reproduzidos em papel ou de forma digital, ou por qualquer outro meio conhecido ou que venha a ser inventado, de o divulgar através de repositórios científicos e de admitir a sua cópia e distribuição com objetivos educacionais ou de investigação, não comerciais, desde que seja dado crédito ao autor e editor.

"If you're not part of the solution, you're a part of the precipitate."

"Science never solves a problem without creating ten more."

- George Bernard Shaw

#### Acknowledgements

Apesar de toda a dissertação se encontrar escrita em inglês, sinto o dever de usar esta oportunidade para agradecer a todos os que fizeram parte deste meu percurso na minha língua materna.

Em primeiro lugar, o meu maior agradecimento para a Professora Doutora Ana Grenha, não só por ter sido minha orientadora de dissertação e me ter guiado nesta aventura, mas também por me ter aberto as portas do seu laboratório, dando-me a oportunidade de contactar com uma realidade que há muito era um sonho meu. Levarei comigo a saudade das aulas teóricas e práticas de Galénica e Tecnologia Farmacêutica e deixo a promessa de que o que me ensinou não será desperdiçado. Tenho esperança de um dia poder orgulhar-me tanto do meu percurso como espero que se orgulhe do seu.

À Professora Doutora Ana Costa deixo, igualmente, um obrigado enorme por todos os momentos, conselhos e saber. Vejo-a muitas vezes como um "poço sem fim" de conhecimento e a admiração que sinto não se verá diminuída. Terei saudades de estar no seu gabinete a ouvi-la raciocinar, mesmo que muitas vezes, confesso, não tenha conseguido acompanhar.

Reservo também um grande obrigado ao Professor Doutor Rui Cruz pela sua contribuição no delineamento do desenho experimental que deu vida a esta dissertação e por todo o seu apoio na análise estatística dos resultados aqui presentes.

Aos meus colegas de laboratório, um grande obrigado pela sua presença e ajuda no caminho tortuoso que é a investigação. Ao Jorge, que desde o primeiro dia me adotou, um grande abraço, pois foi com ele que dei os primeiros passos no laboratório esperando seguir o exemplo dele e, um dia, vir a voar. Não esquecerei a tua paixão pela rádio e pelo João Tordo, nem o teu humor e a alegria de estar na tua companhia.

Quero também agradecer a toda a comissão organizadora de estágios, principalmente, à Professora Doutora Isabel Ramalhinho por ter sido minha tutora e ter sempre dado o seu tudo para garantir as melhores oportunidades, não só a mim, mas a todos os estudantes do Mestrado Integrado em Ciências Farmacêuticas.

Não posso também deixar de agradecer à equipa da Farmácia Crespo Santos em Faro por me terem feito sentir como parte da casa e por tanto me ensinarem e à equipa do IPO Lisboa pelo seu trabalho incansável. Um obrigado especial e do fundo do coração à Doutora Bárbara Sousa, por ser para mim amiga, colega e mentora.

À turma de 2015 e a todos os professores que me acompanharam nesta maratona, obrigada!

Aos meus amigos, com os quais passei noites e dias, ri e chorei. Convosco falei de tudo, aprendi tudo, vivi tudo. Sem vocês estes anos não teriam sido tão especiais. Sem vocês Não Sei o que seria de mim.

À minha família agradeço, com uma lágrima no canto do olho, por me terem trazido até aqui. Não há palavras para descrever o quanto eu desejo que se orgulhem de mim.

Por último, a mim e ao que ainda está por vir.

### Abstract

Chitosan (CS) and carrageenan (CRG), two marine-derived polymers, were selected as matrix materials for the preparation of nanoparticles by polyelectrolyte complexation. The effect of polymer concentration in the production of CS/CRG nanoparticles and on the characteristics of the final product (size and zeta potential) was studied. Furthermore, an experimental design was used to evaluate the effect of adding three different salts, NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, to the formulations. From the obtained results, different mathematical models were established, allowing to have a tool to predict the characteristics of the nanoparticles according to the production parameters.

Overall, the results permitted drawing some conclusions, including the fact that the concentration of CRG in the formulations did not impact the size of the nanoparticles and the observation that the inclusion of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, even at a concentration of 0.006M, which is considered low, results in the production of micro-sized carriers instead of nanoparticles. For NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> it was observed that there was an inversion in the pattern of evolution of NP size with variation of CS concentration when the salt concentration increased. Nevertheless, there was a significant lack of fit of the model regarding the size, which indicates that an improvement is necessary to better fit the data. Regarding the zeta potential, and as expected, a general increase was seen with the increase of CS concentration, although some deviations to this normal behaviour were observed that deserve further testing.

The concentrations used for these salts might not have been enough to produce a noticeable effect in the particles' characteristics. As the concentration of the salts were not liable to increase, since they were at the highest concentration possible that guaranteed polymer solubility, other salts could be tested in the future.

Keywords: Carrageenan; Chitosan; Nanoparticles; Polyelectrolyte Complexation; Salts.

### Resumo

O quitosano (CS) e a carragenina (CRG), dois polímeros marinhos, foram selecionados como materiais de matriz para a preparação de nanopartículas por complexação polieletrolítica. Foi estudado o efeito da concentração dos polímeros na produção de nanopartículas de CS/CRG e nas características do produto final (tamanho e potencial zeta). Para além disso, foi usado um desenho experimental para avaliar o efeito da adição de três sais diferentes, NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> e Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, nas formulações. A partir dos resultados obtidos, foram estabelecidos diferentes modelos matemáticos, permitindo ter uma ferramenta para prever as características das nanopartículas de acordo com os parâmetros de produção.

De uma maneira geral, os resultados permitiram tirar algumas conclusões, incluindo o facto de que a concentração de CRG nas formulações não teve impacto no tamanho das nanopartículas. Também se verificou que a inclusão de Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, mesmo à concentração de 0,006M, considerada baixa, resulta na produção de transportadores na escala micrométrica em vez de nanopartículas. Para o NaCl e o CaCl<sub>2</sub> observou-se que, com o aumento da concentração de sal, houve uma inversão no padrão de evolução do tamanho das nanopartículas em função da variação da concentração de CS. No entanto, houve uma falta de ajuste significativa do modelo em relação ao tamanho, o que indica que é necessária uma melhoria do ajuste dos dados. Em relação ao potencial zeta, e como esperado, observou-se um aumento geral com o aumento da concentração de CS, embora tenham sido observados alguns desvios a este comportamento normal que requerem mais estudo.

As concentrações usadas para os sais utilizados podem não ter sido suficientes para produzir um efeito percetível nas características das partículas. Como a concentração dos sais não pode ser aumentada, visto ser a concentração máxima possível que garantia a solubilidade dos polímeros, outros sais poderiam ser testados no futuro.

Palavras-chave: Carragenina; Complexação Polieletrolítica; Nanopartículas; Quitosano; Sais.

### Resumo Alargado

Apesar do avanço que tem vindo a acontecer a nível científico, ainda existem muitos problemas a serem enfrentados no ramo da medicina e terapêutica, o que é evidenciado pelos milhões de pessoas que continuam a morrer devido a doenças. Atualmente, as micro e nanotecnologias têm-se unido no sentido de oferecer cada vez mais otimismo no que se refere a avanços no diagnóstico, prevenção e tratamento dos problemas de saúde mais relevantes da atualidade.

As aplicações médicas das nanotecnologias têm impulsionado o desenvolvimento de vários tipos de veículos à escala nano capazes de transportar fármacos, como os lipossomas, as nanopartículas (NPs) e as micelas, os quais se usam como veículos para entrega de fármacos. De acordo com a *Food and Drug Administration* (FDA), dos Estados Unidos da América, a nanotecnologia deve ser considerada para materiais ou produtos com dimensões até 1000 nm manufaturados para exibir propriedades ou fenómenos atribuíveis a tais dimensões. As NPs são interessantes nos campos da medicina e, especificamente, na veiculação de fármacos, devido às suas características únicas que exibem, como a elevada relação superfície/volume e a capacidade de associar substâncias de interesse.

As NPs podem ser classificadas em diferentes grupos com base nas suas propriedades, formas e tamanhos, sendo os mais comumente usados na veiculação de fármacos os grupos de NPs baseados em lípidos e em polímeros. São muitos os polímeros que têm sido usados para preparar NPs, mas os biodegradáveis são os preferidos, uma vez que normalmente têm boa biodisponibilidade, solubilidade, tempo de retenção e potencialmente evidenciam menos toxicidade. O quitosano (CS) e a carragenina (CRG) são dois polímeros de origem marinha que pertencem a esta classe de materiais e que demonstraram ser capazes de formar NPs. O CS é um polissacárido composto por unidades aleatoriamente alternadas de *N*-acetilglucosamina e D-glucosamina, obtido através da desacetilação parcial da quitina, presente no exoesqueleto de crustáceos. A CRG é um polissacárido com grupos sulfato, composto por unidades de galactose e anidrogalactose ligadas por ligações glicosídicas, extraído da alga vermelha.

Existem vários métodos para a preparação de NPs à base de CS, sendo os métodos de gelificação iónica e complexação polieletrolítica os mais comuns. A última é um termo geral usado para descrever a separação de fases em soluções de polieletrólitos com carga oposta, onde a fase densa resultante pode ser um coacervado/precipitado ou uma fase turva. Isso é possível porque o CS, carregado positivamente, tem alto grau de protonação e forma hidrogéis na presença de polianiões específicos. Esse processo leva a ligações cruzadas inter- e intramoleculares mediadas por macromoléculas aniónicas, das quais a CRG é um exemplo. Este comportamento de complexação do pH e adição de sal.

Os complexos polieletrolíticos (PECs) são uma forma segura e ecológica de produzir materiais para libertação de fármacos e a utilização de polímeros como CS e CRG neste processo traz também as vantagens de serem considerados biodegradáveis, abundantes na natureza e terem relativamente baixo custo de produção. Os PECs baseados em CS estão presentes na literatura com diversas aplicações na distribuição de substâncias ativas, mas são usados principalmente na entrega de fármacos a nível das mucosas, na terapêutica anticancerígena, na terapia génica e antirretroviral.

Este trabalho desenvolveu um estudo das caraterísticas de NPs CS/CRG produzidas por complexação polieletrolítica. Aplicou-se um desenho experimental, utilizando uma metodologia de superfície de resposta para verificar os efeitos da inclusão de diferentes sais (NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> e Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) como componentes na produção de NPs de CS/CRG por complexação polieletrolítica, bem como os efeitos da variação das concentrações dos polímeros (CS e CRG).

Foram purificados os polímeros CS e CRG comerciais por meio de diálise (96 h), a que se seguiu um passo de liofilização. Os polímeros foram reconstituídos antes da sua utilização, de modo a atingir uma concentração de 2,5 mg/mL, em água ultrapura e HCl pH = 4, respetivamente. Os níveis de pH das soluções foram mantidos entre 3 e 4. Os três sais foram então adicionados conforme necessário, de acordo com os diferentes requisitos de formulação.

Em todos os casos, as NPs foram formadas espontaneamente pela incorporação de 1,5 mL da solução de CRG em 1,5 mL da solução de CS, atingindo um volume total

de 3 mL, sob agitação magnética e à temperatura ambiente, por um período de aproximadamente 10 minutos.

O tamanho e o potencial zeta de todas as NPs que foram produzidas foram medidos por espectroscopia de correlação de fotões e anemometria de laser Doppler. A partir dos resultados obtidos com a adição de cada sal, foram construídos gráficos de superfície 3D (X; Y; Z), mostrando o efeito da concentração dos polímeros e da concentração de sal nas NPs resultantes. Nestes gráficos estão representadas duas variáveis independentes (X e Y), que representam a concentração de CS e CRG, e uma variável dependente (Z) que é o tamanho de partícula ou o potencial zeta.

De modo geral, os resultados obtidos permitiram tirar algumas conclusões, como o facto de que a concentração de CRG nas formulações não ter impacto no tamanho das nanopartículas e a observação de que a inclusão de Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, mesmo na concentração de 0,006M, considerada baixa, resultou na produção de transportadores na escala dos micrómetros, em vez de nanopartículas. Para NaCl e CaCl<sub>2</sub>, com o aumento da concentração de sal observou-se uma inversão no padrão de evolução do tamanho das nanopartículas em função da variação da concentração de CS. No entanto, houve uma falta de ajuste significativa do modelo em relação ao tamanho, o que indica que é necessária uma melhoria no ajuste aos dados. Em relação ao potencial zeta, e como esperado, observou-se um aumento geral com o aumento da concentração de CS. Observou-se também uma diminuição no potencial zeta com a adição de NaCl e Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, quando comparados com a ausência de sal. As concentrações usadas para os sais utilizados podem não ter sido suficientes para produzir um efeito percetível nas características das partículas. Como a concentração dos sais não poderá ser aumentada, visto ser a concentração máxima possível que garantia a solubilidade dos polímeros, outros sais poderiam ser testados no futuro.

### Contents

Fi	gure	e In	ndex	. XI			
Та	able	Inc	dex	XIII			
Li	st o	f A	Abbreviations	XIV			
1	Iı	ntro	oduction	1			
	1.1		Health and disease	1			
	1.2		Nanotechnology as the future in therapeutics	3			
	1.3		Nanoparticles as drug delivery systems and their characterisation	5			
	1.4		Polymeric nanoparticles	8			
	1	.4.1	1 Materials composing polymeric nanoparticles	9			
	Chi	tos	san	. 10			
	Car	rag	geenan	. 14			
1.4.2 Nanoparticle preparation methods							
	1	.4.3	3 Application of PECs in drug delivery	. 19			
2	C	)bje	ectives	. 21			
3	N	/late	erials and methods	. 22			
	3.1		Materials	. 22			
	3.2		Screening nanoparticle preparation conditions - Preliminary study	. 22			
	3.3		Experimental design	. 23			
	3.4		Preparation of nanoparticles for the study of the effect of salt inclusion	. 24			
	3	.4.1	1 Polymer dialysis	. 24			
	3	.4.2	2 Formulation	. 24			
	3.5		Nanoparticle characterisation	. 26			
	3.6		Statistical analysis	. 26			
4	R	lesu	ults and discussion	. 28			
	4.1		Screening of the conditions to prepare CS/CRG nanoparticles	. 28			

	4.2	Evaluation of the effect of polymer concentration and salt inclusion in	the								
	CS/CRG nanoparticles										
	4.2.	1 Effect on size	. 31								
	4.2.	2 Zeta potential	. 34								
5	Cor	nclusion	. 39								
6	Ref	erences	. 40								
7	Anı	nexes	. 49								
	7.1	Design of the experiment: blocks of experiments and specific conditions	. 49								
	7.2	Physicochemical characteristics of CS/CRG nanoparticles containing salt	. 53								

### Figure Index

Figure 1.1:Comparison between the top 10 causes of death in the USA in 1900 and 2010
(18)
Figure 1.2: Examples of nanomaterial-based drug delivery vehicles (27)
Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of the electrical double layer. Adapted from (29). 7
Figure 1.4: Schematic of NP component-structured layers (32)
Figure 1.5: Biological barriers present in the body that can cause variability in
nanoparticle transport (28)
Figure 1.6: Chemical structure of chitin and chitosan (38)
Figure 1.7: Chemical structures of different types of carrageenans (96) 15
Figure 1.8: Schematic representation of the structure of polyelectrolyte complexes (107).
Figure 1.9: Effect of the polyelectrolytes charge ratio on the size and charge of the formed
Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of the Polyalectrolyte Complexation method 22
Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of the propagation of the CS Selt and CDC Selt
rigure 5.2. Schematic representation of the preparation of the CS+Satt and CKO+Satt
Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of the properties of the solutions used in the
right 5.5. Schematic representation of the preparation of the solutions used in the
production of the NPS. [Sait] x M meaning that the same concentration of sait, in molar,
Vasual in every solution
Figure 4.1: Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and NaCl inclusion. a) Particle size with NaCl 0.5 M; b)
Particle size with NaCl 1 M
Figure 4.2:Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and $CaCl_2$ inclusion. a) Particle size with $CaCl_2 0.015$ M; b)
Particle size with CaCl <sub>2</sub> 0.030 M
Figure 4.3: Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> inclusion. a) Particle size with Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> 0.003 M;
b) Particle size with Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> 0.006 M 34
Figure 4.4: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and NaCl inclusion. a) Zeta potential with NaCl 0.5 M; b)
Zeta potential with NaCl 1 M

Figure 4.5: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, C	Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and CaCl2 inclusion. a) Zeta potential with CaCl2 0.0	)15 M;
b) Zeta potential with CaCl <sub>2</sub> 0.030 M.	37
Figure 4.6: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, C	Carrag:
carrageenan) concentration and Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> inclusion. a) Zeta potential with Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	0.003
M; b) Zeta potential with Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> 0.006 M	38

### Table Index

Table 3.1: Final concentrations of the polymers and salts used through the study for the
production of the NPs
Table 4.1:Particle size, PdI and zeta potential of CS/CRG NPs (mean $\pm$ SD; n $\geq$ 4). Note:
These data were previously shown in the final project for UC Projeto
Table 7.1: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of
CS/CRG/NaCl nanoparticles
Table 7.2: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of
CS/CRG/CaCl <sub>2</sub> nanoparticles
Table 7.3: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of
CS/CRG/Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles
Table 7.4: Values of size (nm), polydispersity index (PdI) and Zeta Potential (mV)
obtained for each CS/CRG/Salt test (n=1)

### List of Abbreviations

- ANOVA Analysis of Variance
- CRG Carrageenan
- CS-Chitosan
- EPR Enhanced Permeability and Retention
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- GBD Global Burden of Disease
- NP Nanoparticle
- PdI Polydispersity Index
- PEC Polyelectrolyte complexes
- USA United States of America
- WHO World Health Organization

### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Health and disease

Health and disease have always been some of society's biggest concerns. This has led to a constant need to improve people's quality of life in an attempt to maintain a healthy society. Throughout this process the concepts of health, disease and treatment have suffered a big evolution.

First, we must know what we understand as health, as it can be considered from many different perspectives. From a merely clinical point of view, health could be described as the absence of any disease or impairment. However, it can also be seen as a state that allows individuals to handle all demands of daily life in a competent manner (also in the absence of disease and impairment) or as a personal state of equilibrium established between an individual and the surrounding environment. Adopting only one of these definitions has considerable consequences. Assuming that the first concept is the true one would mean that only medical professionals could judge someone as healthy, ignoring completely how the individual feels about his or her state. When it comes to the second definition, it assumes that someone that has a disease is not capable of functioning well in their community. Lastly, the third theory suggests that someone could be considered healthy as long as they establish an internal equilibrium that allows them to get as much as they can from their life, regardless of manifesting a disease or not (1). Acknowledging the limitations of these theories, the World Health Organization (WHO) Constitution defined health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (2).

Another important subject is understanding disease and the causes behind it. Throughout the centuries there have been many theories about disease causation. The oldest known theories, the demonic theory and the punitive theory, attributed disease to supernatural powers or to a punishment delivered by a divine being. The theory of the four humours by Hippocrates was one of the first theories to separate disease from occult forces, and instead link it to an imbalance in our own organism (3). The miasma theory (4) circulated mainly thought the XVIII and XIX centuries and was also important for introducing the idea that diseases could be airborne. Next, the germ theory (4) by Louis Pasteur and Robert Koch in the XIX century introduced the idea of germs or microbes as

causative agents of disease. This theory proposed standard criteria that should be met before concluding that a disease was caused by a particular bacterium.

The germ theory reinforced the biomedical model, which is the foundation of modern Western medicine (5–7). This model assumes that diseases are the result of deviations in the normal biological variables, disregarding the social, environmental, behavioural and psychological dimensions of health and illness. This view on health and illness is outdated and takes a reductionist approach to this complex phenomenon (8–12). Taking into account the missing dimensions of this model, another one was constructed considering today's definition of health, the biopsychosocial model (13,14). The evolution of these concepts is imperative when it comes to the combat against today's health issues, since now we understand that "disease is always generated, experienced, defined and ameliorated within a social world" (15).

Between 1950 and 2017 there was a rapid progress in life expectancy for both men and women, from 48 to 71 years and from 53 to 76 years, respectively (16). This is linked to new diagnostic technologies and therapeutic capacity as well as to the improvement of sanitation and hygiene (15,17). However, despite the advancement of science there are still many unresolved medical problems to be faced, which is made evident by the millions of people who continue to die from disease.

Medicine has suffered a lot of changes in the last century. According to a study from Carolina Demography, a department within Carolina Population Center at the University of North Carolina, (Figure 1.1**Erro! A origem da referência não foi encontrada.**), while pneumonia and tuberculosis were the main causes of death in 1900, by 2010 these were exchanged for heart disease and cancer in the United States of America (USA). The Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study, dating from 2017, also has similar data, stating that between 1990 and 2017 early death from enteric infections, respiratory infections and tuberculosis declined, but progress in reducing mortality from some common diseases had stalled or reversed, mainly for non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular diseases and cancer (16), proving that illness is a never-ending fight. Chronic diseases such as those referred are the epidemics of today, even though infectious diseases such as malaria, tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) remain major health concerns (16).



### Mortality and Top 10 Causes of Death, USA, 1900 vs. 2010

Figure 1.1: Comparison between the top 10 causes of death in the USA in 1900 and 2010 (18).

#### 1.2 Nanotechnology as the future in therapeutics

As diseases become more difficult to treat, the scientific community attempts to develop multiple new technological approaches. If finding new molecules in nature and turning them into tablets was enough effort a few decades ago, this is not the case any longer. Today, micro- and nanotechnologies are coming together to offer increasing optimism when it comes to advances in diagnosis, prevention and treatment of current health problems (19).

Nanotechnology, according to the Food and Drug Association, should be considered for materials or products with dimensions up to 1000 nm engineered to exhibit properties or phenomena attributable to nanometric dimensions (20). These materials and

products can be designed to interact with cells at a molecular level with functional specificity, allowing technology and biological systems to merge in a way that was previously unachievable (21).

Nanotechnology once focused on understanding the link between the intrinsic properties of nanomaterials, namely optical, electrical and magnetic, and their size, shape and surface chemistry as a way to solve technological impasses present in several branches of science. The studies performed in this area had great importance in creating a foundation for engineering nanotechnology-based electronic, computer and biomedical devices. However, potential applications in the biomedical field soon became evident and the focus has since shifted to investigating the interactions of nanomaterials with biological systems. Clarifying the said interactions permits identifying design rules that will allow the successful engineering of target-driven nanoparticulate delivery systems. The evolution of drug-delivery systems, aimed at biomedical applications, can be described by their three generations. In the first generation, developed from the 1050s to the 1970s, nanotechnology was naturally not present. They were instead based on formulations directed essentially to oral and transdermal administration that made controlled release possible. In the 1980s, a second generation appeared, which aimed at creating self-regulating controlled-release drug delivery systems, able to adapt release to internal triggers. It was only in the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century that this became a real possibility when nanotechnology started to be applied to medicine. In the third generation, research is done in order to design and program NPs to assist therapeutic agents in achieving selective targeting by going through biological barriers, mediating molecular interactions and identifying targeting sites (22,23).

Drug delivery is one of nanotechnology's many medical applications. The paradigm of finding and developing new drugs was replaced in a certain way by the improvement of pre-existing drugs, namely by finding new ways and new routes for their delivery (24). The main goals for research of nanotechnologies in drug delivery are obtaining more specific drug targeting and delivery, thus maximising efficacy, while reducing drug toxicity and increasing safety and biocompatibility. However this field of research is not lacking in challenges, including the search for appropriate carriers, since the design of new materials comprises knowledge on drug incorporation and release, formulation stability and shelf life, biocompatibility, biodistribution and targeting,

functionality and possible adverse effects of residual material after the drug is released (25). The availability of a wide range of materials and the requirement of compatibility with the selected drug, has given impulse to the development of various types of drug nanocarriers (Figure 1.2), such as liposomes, nanoparticles (NPs) and micelles, which are used as drug delivery vehicles (26).



Figure 1.2: Examples of nanomaterial-based drug delivery vehicles (27).

#### 1.3 Nanoparticles as drug delivery systems and their characterisation

NPs are interesting in biomedical applications due to their unique features, such as the large surface-to-volume ratio and the ability to associate compounds of interest. They can be classified according to different aspects, namely their type, morphology, size and chemical properties. These are all factors that will directly influence cellular uptake and impact the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in nanomedicine applications (28). NPs have a relatively large functional surface which can bind, adsorb and carry different compounds. The engineered NPs may have many different compositions and source materials, so for them to be useful in drug delivery there must be a deep understanding of the pathophysiological basis of disease, since the interaction with cells will vary according to the origin of the materials, namely, whether they are biological components

like lipids or non-biological components like metals, their lipophilicity and size, among other characteristics (25).

NPs are, by definition, disperse systems, being constituted by a disperse phase and a continuous phase. When the size of the dispersed particles ranges from 1 nm to 1 µm they are considered as a colloidal dispersion. NPs fit this definition since a product is thought to involve nanotechnology if its dimension is in the nanoscale (1 - 100 nm) or up to 1 µm as long as the product has properties related to the nanoscale range, as was said before (20). When the size of the dispersed particles is larger, they are considered coarse dispersions, as are examples emulsions, suspensions and aerosols. Within the size range already specified, there is often a wide distribution of sizes of the dispersed particles in the same NP formulation. Therefore, the particle size that is typically assumed for a formulation is an average value that is dependent on the experimental technique used in its measurement. One of the methods used to measure particle size is dynamic light scattering (photon correlation spectroscopy). When a beam of light is passed through a colloidal sol, some of the light may be absorbed, some is scattered and the remainder is transmitted through the sample. Because of the scattered light, the sol appears turbid, which is known as the Tyndall effect. As colloidal particles undergo Brownian motion because of multiple collisions with neighbouring particles, the intensity of the scattered light will fluctuate in time due to the distance between particles constantly changing. Essentially, this method compares scattering intensity at very short time intervals, thus allowing to measure the NPs' average size (29).

When NPs are dispersed in aqueous medium, the materials composing their surface, and their inherent charge, affect the distribution of ions in the proper dispersion, by attracting counterions to the surface and repelling co-ions. As a consequence of the established equilibrium, the NPs will exhibit a determined surface charge. This configures the concept of the electrical double layer, typical of colloidal dispersions, which is depicted in Figure 1.3. The double layer is divided in two parts: the inner part, known as the Stern layer, which includes adsorbed ions, and the diffuse part, where ions are distributed according to electrical forces and thermal motion. Dividing these two layers is the Stern plane. Naturally, the ions in the Stern layer are surrounded by a certain amount of solvent that is in contact with the charged NP surface and accompanies any movements of the particles. This solvating layer is held to the surface and at its edge is the surface of

shear, which marks the boundary of movement between the attached material and the liquid. The potential at the surface of shear, meaning how much energy it takes to move a single point charge to the particle from infinitely far away, is termed the zeta potential and is the charge that is measurable. The zeta potential is also an indicator of the repulsion existing between NPs as a function of their charge. Therefore, the exhibited charge plays a role on the stability of colloidal dispersions, as highly positively or negatively charged particles tend to repel each other, while less charged particles will more easily aggregate and cause flocculation. Usually, colloids with zeta potential values above +30 mV or -30 mV are prone to be stable. Other components pertaining to the colloidal dispersion, namely other excipients that might be used, may disturb the ionic equilibrium. In this context, an increase of the electrolyte concentration of the aqueous medium will lead to compression of the double layer and, consequently, to a decrease in the zeta potential (29,30).



Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of the electrical double layer. Adapted from (29).

It can be often tempting to imagine NPs as simple molecules, but they are anything but that. A NP can be split in up to three possible layers, as shown in Figure 1.4. First, there is the surface layer which can be functionalised, which will greatly affect its stability in aqueous medium. Second, the shell layer, composed of chemically different material from the core material and usually prepared intentionally. And finally, the core, usually used to refer to the NP itself, that dominates its properties of interest (31). However, this

is not mandatory and not all NPs present structured layers, so various possibilities must be taken into account.



Figure 1.4: Schematic of NP component-structured layers (32).

#### 1.4 Polymeric nanoparticles

Based on their chemical and physical properties, some of the best-known classes of NPs are carbon-based NPs, ceramic NPs, semiconductor NPs, metal NPs, lipid-based NPs and polymeric NPs, being the last three the most studied when it comes to applications in drug delivery and therapeutics (32,33).

Polymeric NPs are those explored in the present study and, therefore, will be described in more detail. This type of carriers provides versatility through the use of polymers with different chemical composition, hydrophilic/lipophilic character, charge and physical structure, among other properties. As a result, the prepared NPs could be formulated to deliver a range of drugs and be adaptable to many clinical applications. Moreover, in some cases it can be possible to have the ability to control the degradation and disassembly of polymeric NPs, which grants the ability to control the temporal aspects of drug delivery across a wider range of time than that provided by other types of NPs (34).

The design of polymeric NPs depends on the therapeutic application, target site and route of administration. Even though intravenous injection is the main route of administration for this type of NPs, there are less invasive ways, such as

dermal/transdermal, pulmonary, oral and other routes of mucosal delivery. Awareness of the different barriers and challenges in every route of administration is imperative for the proper design of nanocarriers. These barriers can be external, such as skin and mucus, *en route*, as renal and hepatic clearance, destabilisation, aggregation and opsonisation, and at the cellular level, which includes cellular uptake, entrapment during endocytosis, degradation in the cytoplasm, difficult translocation to cellular organelles and clearance by exocytosis, as is summarised in Figure 1.5 (35).



*Figure 1.5: Biological barriers present in the body that can cause variability in nanoparticle transport* (28).

#### 1.4.1 Materials composing polymeric nanoparticles

Initially, polymeric NPs were based on non-biodegradable polymers, so they needed to be designed in a way that ensured that the particles had a rapid and efficient clearance though urine or faeces, as to not accumulate or distribute in tissues at a toxic level. Nevertheless, and as expected, chronic toxicity and inflammatory reactions were observed with use, fostering a shift of the focus to biodegradable polymers. At first,

synthetic polyester-based polymers were the most used, but natural polymers such as chitosan, alginate, gelatine and albumin have then emerged as potential possibilities, given the reduced concerns on toxicity and the increased biocompatibility associated to these materials (28). Although attention has been given to the toxicology and health implications of NPs, the environmental behaviour of these nanocarriers has been less discussed. NPs can impact the environment in four ways: i) direct effect on biota, ii) changes in the availability of toxins or nutrients, iii) indirect effects on ecosystems and iv) changes of the environmental microstructures. Understanding the interactions between NPs and the environment is crucial to estimate the potential impact of NPs and ensure their environmentally sustainable production and use (31,36).

Following in this section, the specific properties of chitosan and carrageenan will be detailed, as these are the natural polymers that were selected to produce the NPs explored in the present work.

#### <u>Chitosan</u>

Chitosan (CS) is a derivative of chitin, which is the second most abundant natural polymer in the planet, after cellulose. Chitin is a naturally occurring polysaccharide consisting of repeating units of  $\beta$ -(1-4)-*N*-acetylglucosamine found in crustacean shells, insect exoskeletons, fungal cell walls, microfauna and plankton (37). Depending on its source, chitin occurs as two allomorphs:  $\alpha$ -chitin and, the rarer,  $\beta$ -chitin (38). In crustacean shells, chitin is found as a part of an intricate system with proteins and calcium carbonate. Thus, industrial processes for its extraction consist of three main steps: deproteinization of the raw materials with the addition of an alkaline solution, demineralisation by the treatment with an acidic solution and discoloration of the final product with an alkaline solution once again. These processes may vary according to the chitin source due to the diversity of their structures (38,39). Chitin has poor solubility in water and organic solvents when compared to CS because of its rigid structure and strong intra and inter molecular hydrogen bonds, which limits its use (40,41).

Its deacetylated derivative, CS, is a polymer formed of repeating units of N-acetylglucosamine and D-glucosamine and is the most used in commercial applications. Generally, about 20% of the repeating units are acetylated, with the remaining 80%

deacetylated, but these percentages may vary according to the source of chitin and processing methods (37). The chemical structure of both chitin and CS is represented below in Figure 1.6.



Figure 1.6: Chemical structure of chitin and chitosan (38).

CS can be produced in a variety of ways including a thermochemical deacetylation method (40), an isolation method from chitosan raw materials (42) and a bioconversion method (43). The most common method to produce commercial CS is the thermochemical deacetylation of chitin. In this method, acetamide linkages go through *N*-deacetylation under strenuous alkaline conditions at a high temperature, removing about 75% of acetyl groups. More than 80% deacetylation cannot be achieved without depolymerisation and shortening of the polymer chains (37). In this procedure, conditions like the starting material's quality, particle size, reactants mixture ratio, additives and agitation rate have a determinant impact in the final product. Consequently, notable variability can be noticed. Among the physicochemical characteristics influencing its properties, which emphasizes the need for standardized methods. After the deacetylation process, CS is left with diverse functional groups: the amino moieties, capable of ionisation, and the remaining acetamide groups, prone to hydrophobic associations (44).

In its solid state, CS is generally organized in highly ordered crystallites contained in amorphous regions. There are two main CS crystalline polymorphs, the "tendon chitosan" and the "annealed" polymorphs. In both polymorphs the crystal is formed by

two antiparallel CS molecules with a two-fold helix conformation stabilized by hydrogen bonds. The difference between them is that the "tendon chitosan" polymorph is a hydrated form, meaning that there are water molecules between crystal cells stabilising the structure by multiple hydrogen bonds, while the "annealed" polymorph is an anhydrous crystal form (44).

As referred previously, the degree of deacetylation, meaning the proportion of deacetylated and acetylated groups, is very important and distinguishes between chitin and CS. The extent and distribution of the chitin deacetylation reaction relates to several changes in the main properties of the molecule. One of the most notorious changes is that, as the amino groups can be ionized, CS becomes polycationic in acidic media and the only cationic natural polymer. Intra- and intermolecular electrostatic repulsion due to protonation are enhanced at low pH, generating higher solubility and chain expansion, which allows it to interact with multiple types of molecules. Diluted inorganic acids, like hydrochloric acid, are good solvents for CS. Apart from solubility, the degree of deacetylation determines properties such as swelling in water, susceptibility to biodegradation, bioactivity and biocompatibility (39,44).

Molecular weight is another characteristic of great importance, having particular influence on the viscoelastic properties of solutions and hydrated colloidal forms. In CS, the molecular weight can vary due to the depolymerisation that happens during the deacetylation process and during chitin's extraction procedures, as well as a result of constant synthesis and degradation of chitin in living tissues (44).

CS is known for its remarkable properties, such as the mucoadhesion capacity and permeation enhancement, *in situ* gelling ability, transfection enhancement and inhibition of efflux pump (45). The polymer also exhibits other biological properties such as antibacterial (46–50), antifungal (51–55), antitumoral (56–58) and antioxidant activity (59–61). These make CS interesting for several applications that go far beyond drug delivery (62,63) and include tissue engineering and wound healing (64–67), water treatment (68–71) and obesity treatment (72–75). Drug delivery is, however, one of the most relevant fields of application and CS has been proposed to incorporate the matrix of many drug delivery systems, as nanoparticles, microspheres, hydrogels and films, among others (41,76). Different formulations typically find different applications,

varying from the delivery of genes or proteins, including vaccines, to that of poorly soluble drugs (77,78).

Biodegradation is also a very important property of drug delivery systems. CS, as a hydrophilic polymer, must have a suitable molecular weight for renal clearance in the case systemic absorption takes place. CS is thought to be degraded in vertebrates mostly by lysozyme and by bacterial enzymes in the colon. However, its biodegradation mechanism in vivo is still not fully understood. Both rate and extent of biodegradability in living organisms seem to be dependent on the degree of deacetylation of CS, lower deacetylation degree resulting in faster rate of degradation, and on the polymer's molecular weight, lower molecular weight leading to increased degradation (79,80). When it comes to biodistribution, it will be related to all aspects of the CS formulation, from molecular weight and degree of deacetylation to size and charge, in the case of using drug carriers, as well as the route of administration. When CS is delivered intravenously, studies reported that it appeared to accumulate mostly in the liver and stomach (81–85). Even though CS uptake into the blood stream in oral administration studies is not commonly investigated, its systemic absorption and distribution may be closely related to its molecular weight. In this regard, the absorption of CS polymers by the gastrointestinal tract is not expected and they are unlikely to show distribution, whereas CS oligosaccharides may be absorbed to some extent (80,86). As for toxicity, CS is widely regarded as a non-toxic, biologically compatible polymer. However, there is mixed information about this aspect, with some in vivo studies reporting low toxicity (87,88) but an *in vitro* study testing the toxicity of CS-based NPs in a zebrafish embryo model reporting the opposite (89), indicating the need for more safety studies.

Despite being a versatile compound, CS-based pharmaceutical products are hardly found. This is mainly due to its variability, as previously discussed, but also to its hygroscopic nature, as these factors can lead to CS degradation. The polymer's stability can be influenced by intrinsic parameters, such as purity level, molecular weight, deacetylation degree and moisture content, as well as external factors, like environmental conditions, humidity, temperature, processing and sterilisation. As increasing attention was drawn to CS, several strategies have been proposed to improve the long-term stability of CS-based products by preventing polymer chain damage. These strategies go from the addition of stabilising agents (mannitol, sorbitol, glycerol), to complexation with non-

ionic polymers creating CS blends and modification of CS structure via covalent (dialdehydes and genipin) and ionic (carrageenan, hyaluronic acid, sodium alginate) crosslinking (90).

#### Carrageenan

Seaweeds are abundant, renewable marine biomass which are found worldwide. Many seaweeds produce hydrocolloids associated with the cell wall and intercellular spaces. Members of the red algae, *Rhodophyta*, produce galactans, such as carrageenans (CRG) and agars, and members of the brown algae, *Phaeophyceae*, produce urinates, like alginates. CRG can be extracted from *Rodophyta* and from *Carrageenophytes* and represents one of the major texturizing ingredients used in the food industry, being generally regarded as safe (GRAS) after being used for food applications for decades. Its original source was from the red seaweed *Chondrus crispus*, which is only used in limited quantities nowadays. The most used commercial CRG are extracted from *Kappaphycus alvarezii* and *Eucheuma denticulatum* (91).

Among all the commonly used hydrocolloids, CRG can be difficult to characterize due to different red seaweed species having different types and compositions of CRG (92). In any way, it is established and widely accepted the existence of three main types of commercial CRG composed of D-galactose residues linked alternately in 3-linked- $\beta$ -D-galactopyranose and 4-linked- $\alpha$ -D-galactopyranose units, which vary in their degree of sulfation: 1) kappa-carrageenan ( $\kappa$ -CRG), with one sulfate group per disaccharide repeating unit; 2) iota-carrageenan ( $\kappa$ -CRG) having two sulfate groups per disaccharide repeating unit and; 3) lambda-carrageenan ( $\lambda$ -CRG) having three sulfate groups per disaccharide repeating unit. Generally, seaweeds do not produce these idealized and pure carrageenans, but more likely a range of hybrid structures and/or precursors. Several other carrageenans, with a different pattern of repeating units exist, including, xi ( $\xi$ ), theta ( $\theta$ ), beta ( $\beta$ ), mu ( $\mu$ ) and nu ( $\nu$ ), as seen in Figure 1.7 (91,93–95).



Figure 1.7: Chemical structures of different types of carrageenans (96).

The production of CRG traditionally involves high quantities of chemicals, water and energy consumption, as well as high waste generation throughout the entire process, which is cost ineffective and not environmental-friendly. Therefore, green extraction methods such as microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE), enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE), supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) and pressurized solvent extraction (PSE) have been considered as a way to help reducing the use of chemicals and improve the extraction yield and quality of seaweed-derived polymers (92).

Apart from applications in the food industry due to thickening, stabilising and gelling properties, CRG is also used in the pharmaceutical, cosmetics, printing and textile industries (97). Thanks to its gelling properties, it has been an attractive candidate for the

preparation of hydrogels to be used in biomedical areas like tissue engineering, wound dressing and drug delivery (98,99). When it comes do drug delivery, CRG can form an unique bilayer matrix for drug release when in aqueous environment, which allows to control the dissolution and diffusion of the loaded drug. Another useful property is the high capacity for water absorption, improving drug dissolution and consequently increasing the oral bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs (100). Preparation of nanoparticles NPs comprising CRG and CS have also been reported as advantageous drug delivery systems (101,102). CRG also has other interesting biological activities such as antioxidant, immunomodulatory, anticoagulant, antithrombotic, antiviral and antitumoral effects. Even though CRG is generally regarded as a relatively non-toxic and non-irritating substance when used in non-parenteral pharmaceutical formulations, it has also been shown to induce inflammatory responses in laboratory animals used to study anti-inflammatory drugs. Therefore, its long term safety is a major concern and requires further studies contextualised with the intended routes of administration (94,103,104).

#### 1.4.2 Nanoparticle preparation methods

Different methods can be employed for the production of NPs, but they are mostly divided into two main approaches: the top-down approach and the bottom-up approach. In the methods included in the top-down class, a destructive approach is used. It starts with larger molecules, which are broken down or decomposed into smaller units and then converted into suitable NPs. Opposed to this principle is the bottom-up class, in which NPs are formed/constructed from basic units or monomers. These approaches are further divided according to the operation, reaction conditions and adopted protocols (32,33).

As discussed before, CS is one of the most studied and promising natural polymers used in the production of polymeric NPs. As a result, varied methods have been developed for this purpose, such as emulsification and cross-linking, emulsion droplet coalescence, emulsion solvent diffusion, reverse micellar method, ionic gelation and polyelectrolyte complexation, which are all part of the bottom-up approach (105).

Methods involving emulsification appeared first, but typically involved the application of harsh cross-linking agents to harden the formed droplets, which caused obvious toxicity and compromised drug integrity, decreasing their interest (105).

Ionic gelation and polyelectrolyte complexation both rely on CS's capacity to form hydrogels in the presence of specific polyanions, as a consequence of the inter- and intramolecular cross-linkages mediated by the anionic molecules. However, a simple factor distinguishes these techniques. When CS gelation is induced by small anionic molecules, such as phosphate, the technique is called ionic gelation. On the contrary, when it is induced by anionic macromolecules, such as CRG, it is referred as polyelectrolyte complexation (105). Polyelectrolyte complexes (PEC) are formed when the solutions of two polyelectrolytes of opposite charges are mixed, as occurs with CS and CRG. The phase separation in this mixture leads to a "dense phase", referred to as a coacervate or precipitate (depending on its appearance and water content), and a supernatant phase dilute in polymer. Coacervates have a higher water content than precipitates, which are solid structures, and look like a viscous liquid. Between the two extremes, cloudy phases with different degrees of turbidity can be observed (106). Although the electrostatic interactions between the complementary ionic groups of the polyelectrolytes are the main driving force for PEC formation, hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions also contribute to the complexation. The final structure, as represented in , having hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions, makes PECs a particular class of physically cross-linked hydrogels that are sensitive to pH and other environmental factors, such as temperature and ionic strength (107).



Figure 1.8: Schematic representation of the structure of polyelectrolyte complexes (107).

When CS-based PEC particles are formed, charge neutralisation tends to occur, leading to the formation of aggregates. Therefore, to obtain NPs two factors are extremely important, as shown in Figure 1.9. First, the polyelectrolyte solutions must be diluted and second, one of the polyions has to be in the appropriate excess so that the charge ratio is different from one (107).



*Figure 1.9: Effect of the polyelectrolytes charge ratio on the size and charge of the formed PECs* (107).

The inclusion of salt in the reaction media also plays an important role in the formation of PECs, as salts will reduce the interaction between polyelectrolytes, inducing a rearrangement and leading to the reduction of aggregation owing to a less stiff and more-coiled structure of the polymers (108,109).

As PECs show promise as drug delivery systems, drug incorporation and its release are vital steps. Active substances can be incorporated into PEC NPs in four ways: 1) by entrapment of the drug (present in solution) at the time of complex precipitation; 2) by adsorption of the drug (present in solution) to the already prepared PEC when they come into contact; 3) by chemically binding the drug either to the polyanion or polycation and 4) by using the drug as the polyanion or the polycation itself, which is only possible for ionizable drugs (108). As for the mechanisms of drug release, the NPs deliver the

active substance to the target site by: swelling of the polymeric NPs followed by release through diffusion; rupture or degradation of the NP at site via enzymatic reactions, releasing the drug from the entrapped core; or dissociation of the drug from the NP (110).

#### 1.4.3 Application of PECs in drug delivery

The formation of PECs is a safe and environmentally friendly way of manufacturing materials for drug delivery applications. The employment of polymers, such as CS and CRG, in this process also gives it the advantages of being generally regarded as safe and biodegradable, as discussed before, but also abundant in nature with a relatively low production cost. Most of them also have hydrophilic groups which could form non-covalent bonds with biological tissues, making bioadhesion possible (111).

CS-based PECs have been reported for many applications as drug delivery systems. They are mainly used in mucosal drug delivery, cancer therapy, gene delivery and anti-HIV therapy (111,112).

Mucosal surfaces, like ocular, respiratory tract and reproductive tract are susceptible to infection by pathogenic microorganisms. Therefore, these sites have been used as therapeutic targets and have established the basis of many of the developed nanotechnology-based therapies. Moreover, as mucosal surfaces are frequently the primary site of infection, the administration of vaccines onto these surfaces is being increasingly proposed. Mucosal vaccination is expected to induce mucosal immune responses in addition to the conventional systemic response, which could entail a more efficient approach to protect these areas against infection (111). Therefore, many studies have directed the efforts to making these approaches possible (113–115). In our research group, PECs were described in applications as varied as oral vaccination and respiratory delivery of proteins. When it comes to vaccines with interest in oral administration, NPs composed of CS and a synthesized locus bean gum sulfate derivative (LBGS) were proposed as oral immunoadjuvants(116). In this study a significant adjuvant effect was seen when OVA-loaded CS/LBGS NPs were used, possible due to the mucoadhesive properties of CS and the capacity of LBGS to target the intestinal M cells. Regarding the delivery of proteins through respiratory routes, our group has described applications both in pulmonary and nasal delivery. For the effect, PECs based either on aminated-

pullulan/CRG and sulphated-pullulan/CS (117) or on CS/CRG/tripolyphosphate (118) were proposed as protein carriers for pulmonary and nasal transmucosal delivery. Finally, other groups have also relied on PECs to propose oral insulin delivery (119).

PECs have also been described in the context of cancer therapy. In this regard, depending on their composition, PECs may enable the creation of more specific treatments, mainly due to the Enhanced Permeability and Retention (EPR) effect exhibited by tumours. This effect permits an interplay between characteristics of materials and those of tumour tissues, resulting in potential benefits from the use of smart drug delivery systems that are stimuli-responsive (120–123).

When it comes to the field of gene delivery, efforts are being made to develop non-viral gene delivery vectors, as they are safer than viral vectors and can reduce inflammation and the inherent immune response that is induced (124). As for anti-HIV therapy, nanotechnology-based systems for antiretroviral drug delivery have been showing improved results, especially because nanoparticulate-based carriers could allow drugs to reach latent virus reservoirs and promote the absorption of antiviral drugs, improving their bioavailability (125–127).

### 2 Objectives

This work was stablished within a wider line of research concerning the production of polysaccharide NPs and the parameters that affect the NPs' final characteristics.

The specific goal of the work was to study the effect of polymer concentration and of the addition of different salts in the production of chitosan/carrageenan (CS/CRG) NPs. A response surface methodology was used to evaluate its effects on the size and zeta potential of the obtained particles. From the obtained results, different mathematical models were established, allowing to have a tool to predict the characteristics of the nanoparticles according to the production parameters.

#### 3 Materials and methods

#### 3.1 Materials

Chitosan (CS) (low molecular weight, deacetylation degree 75%–85%), was purchased from Aldrich Chemistry<sup>®</sup> (Germany). κ-carrageenan (CRG) was obtained from Fluka Analytical<sup>®</sup> (Germany) and acetic acid (glacial) from Merck<sup>®</sup> (Germany). NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup> (Germany). Hydrochloric acid (HCl) 37% obtained from VWR Chemicals<sup>®</sup> (France) and ultrapure water (Millipore<sup>®</sup>, Portugal) were used throughout.

#### 3.2 Screening nanoparticle preparation conditions - Preliminary study

CS was dissolved in 1% (v/v) acetic acid and CRG was dissolved in ultrapure water at 60 °C, to obtain solutions of 1 mg/mL (w/v) and 1.25 mg/mL (w/v), respectively. The resulting pH of each solution assumed a mean value of 3.2 for CS and 7.2 for CRG (pH meter PHS-25CW). NPs were prepared to reach final theoretical CS/CRG mass ratios of 2/1, 3/1, 4/1, 5/1 and 6/1. The carriers were spontaneously formed by polyelectrolyte complexation, upon incorporation of 0.8 mL of CRG solution into 2 mL of a CS solution at the concentration of 1 mg/mL, under magnetic stirring at room temperature. A schematic representation of the procedure is depicted in Figure 3.1. To reach the specified mass ratios and thus obtain different NP formulations, the concentration of CRG was varied between 0.42 mg/mL and 1.25 mg/mL.



Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of the Polyelectrolyte Complexation method.

#### 3.3 Experimental design

A response surface methodology was applied to verify the effects of the inclusion of different salts (NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) as components in the production of CS/CRG NP by polyelectrolyte complexation, as well as the effects of varying the polymer (CS and CRG) concentrations. A central composite design (CCD) was performed using the software Design Expert 6.0 (Stat-Ease Inc., MN, USA). The established experiments thus involved three independent variables: concentration of CS, concentration of CRG and concentration of salt. The levels of the different factors are described in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: Final concentrations of the polymers and salts used through the study for the production of the NPs.

CS (mg/mL)	CRG (mg/mL)	NaCl (M)	CaCl <sub>2</sub> (M)	Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> (M)		
0.020	0.060	-	-	-		
0.635	0.655	0.500	0.015	0.003		
1.250	1.250	1.000	0.030	0.006		

A total of 20 experiments with six center points were generated from the statistical design. The experiments were divided in 3 blocks, where blocks 1 and 2 had each 6 formulations that were prepared and measured on the same day, and where block 3 had 8 formulations and was generally prepared the day after block 1 and 2. The conditions of each experiment are detailed in the annexes section, in Tables 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3.

The responses were analysed by using a second order polynomial model:

 $Y_k = \beta_{k0} + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_{ki} x_i + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_{kii} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^n \beta_{kij} x_i x_j$  where  $Y_k$  is the response variable,  $Y_i$  is the particle size (nm),  $Y_2$  is the zeta potential (mV);  $x_i$  are the independent variables,  $x_i$  is the chitosan concentration (mg/mL),  $x_2$  is the carrageenan concentration (mg/mL),  $x_3$  is the salt concentration (M);  $\beta_{k0}$  is the model intercept coefficient;  $\beta_{ki}$ ,  $\beta_{kii}$  and  $\beta_{kij}$  are interaction coefficients of linear, quadratic and the second order terms, respectively.

#### 3.4 Preparation of nanoparticles for the study of the effect of salt inclusion

#### 3.4.1 Polymer dialysis

CS was dissolved in HCl pH = 3 ([H<sup>+</sup>] =  $10^{-3}$  M) and CRG was dissolved in ultrapure water at 60 °C, to obtain solutions of 2.5 mg/mL (w/v). Dialysis tubing from Sigma Aldrich<sup>®</sup> (Germany) with 9 mm average flat width was used for the dialysis of both polymer solutions. The dialysis lasted 96 hours and was made against HCl pH = 4 and ultrapure water for CS and CRG, respectively. The pH of the solutions before the dialysis were 2.4 for CS and 6.7 for CRG (pH meter PHS-25CW). At the end of the dialysis process the pH values were 5.2 for CS and 3.6 for CRG. The resulting solutions were frozen at -80 °C and then freeze-dried under the following conditions: pressure of (3.9 - 4.9) x  $10^{-5}$  atm (or 0.04-0.05 mBar) and 72 h of primary drying starting at -49 °C (Labconco<sup>®</sup> FreeZone 6 Liter Benchtop Freeze Dry System freeze dryer, Labconco<sup>®</sup>, USA).

#### 3.4.2 Formulation

After freeze-drying, CS and CRG powders were reconstituted in ultrapure water and HCl pH = 4 ( $[H^+] = 10^{-4}$  M), respectively, to obtain a concentration of 2.5 mg/mL. The resulting pH of each stock solution assumed a mean value of 5.2 for CS and 2.7 for CRG. The pH of the CS solution was then adjusted to a mean value of 3.8 using HCl 0.75M.

The three salts NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were included in the formulation of NPs to study their effect on physicochemical characteristics (size and zeta potential). As can be observed in Table 3.1., each salt was tested at two different concentrations, one corresponding to the maximum that could be solubilised in the established conditions, thus the maximum concentration, and the other corresponding to the half of that. CS/CRG NPs without any salt addition were also prepared.

In all cases, the NPs were spontaneously formed upon incorporation of 1.5 mL of CRG solution into 1.5 mL of a CS solution under magnetic stirring at room temperature, for a period of approximately 10 minutes, as represented in Figure 3.1 above. A total volume of 3 mL was therefore obtained for each formulation that was prepared. In order

to easily incorporate the specified salt concentration in each formulation, that specified concentration was previously added to each of the polymeric solutions used for NP assembly (CS and CRG). Moreover, the dilution of the polymer stock solutions to the desired concentrations in each formulation, was performed using HCl solution of pH 4 already added of the specific concentration of salt. In brief, each polymeric stock solution, namely CS and CRG, was initially divided in three parts, as is shown in Figure 3.2. To the first portion no salt was added, to the second portion a medium concentration of salt was added and to the third portion the highest concentration of salt used in the study was added.



*Figure 3.2: Schematic representation of the preparation of the CS+Salt and CRG+Salt solutions.* 

After that, the polymeric solutions were diluted to the required concentrations using HCl (pH = 4), adjusted to a final volume of 1.5 mL, having already the specified concentration of salt for the formulation under preparation, as depicted in Figure 3.3. The specific volumes used in the preparation of all solutions involved in the production of the NPs are described in the annexes section, in Table 7.1, Table 7.2 and Table 7.3. In the end of this process, a solution of CS at the specified concentration for a determined experiment (V1) and another one of CRG, also at the specified concentration for the same experiment (V2), were obtained.



*Figure 3.3:* Schematic representation of the preparation of the solutions used in the production of the NPs. [Salt] x M meaning that the same concentration of salt, in molar, was used in every solution.

#### 3.5 Nanoparticle characterisation

The size and zeta potential of all the nanoparticles that were produced through the processes described above were measured by photon correlation spectroscopy and laser Doppler anemometry, respectively, at 25 °C, using a Malvern Zetasizer<sup>®</sup> Nano-ZS (Malvern Instruments, UK). For the particle size analysis, regular cuvettes were used. As for the zeta potential measurement, folded capillary Zeta Cells were used. Each sample was diluted to an appropriate concentration using ultrapure water.

#### 3.6 Statistical analysis

For the analysis of results of the characteristics of NPs obtained in the preliminary assays of NP production, a t test was performed using GraphPad Prism 6, and differences were considered significant at a level of p < 0.05. The best fitting models were determined through multiple linear regressions using the backward elimination method in order to remove non-significant factors and interactions from the initial response surface model step by step. In each following step, the least significant variable in the model was

removed, when possible, until all remaining variables had individual p-values < 0.05 (128). The criteria for eliminating a variable from the full regression equation was based on the coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup> value), standard error (SE) estimate, and the significance of the F-test and derived p-values. The lack-of-fit and significance of the effects of each factor was determined by analysis of variance. 3D plots were performed using the software Design Expert 6.0 (Stat-Ease Inc., MN, USA) for each salt and studied parameter.

#### 4 Results and discussion

#### 4.1 Screening of the conditions to prepare CS/CRG nanoparticles

In order to acknowledge and practice the process of preparation of polymeric NPs by polyelectrolyte complexation, a preliminary screening of conditions of polymer concentrations was performed and the resulting product observed and characterised. Following conditions exhaustively described in the literature and also frequently used in the laboratory (102), CS was dissolved in acetic acid and CRG in water, and NPs prepared as described in the methodology section. This permitted rehearsing and optimising the conditions to prepare the said NPs.

CS/CRG NPs were successfully obtained by polyelectrolyte complexation at CS/CRG mass ratios corresponding to 2/1, 3/1, 4/1, 5/1 and 6/1. The Tyndall effect was mainly noticed in the formulations 2/1, 3/1 and 4/1, indicating the formation of NPs. These observations were somewhat expected, because the mentioned ratios correspond to those involving higher amounts of polymer, thus facilitating the occurrence of electrostatic interactions that result in the formation of NPs. The highest turbidity was in fact seen in the formulation corresponding to CS/CRG = 2/1, which has the highest amount of polymers.

Table 4.1 shows the results of the physicochemical characteristics (size, polydispersity index (PdI) and zeta potential) of the produced NPs.

CS/CRG (w/w)	Size (nm)	PdI	Zeta Potential (mV)
2/1	$919 \pm 69$	$0.589 \pm 0.057$	$+66 \pm 1$
3/1	$823\pm63$	$0.534\pm0.074$	$+69 \pm 4$
4/1	$705\pm43$	$0.411\pm0.037$	$+70\pm1$
5/1	$648\pm51$	$0.381\pm0.132$	$+67 \pm 3$
6/1	$618\pm83$	$0.377\pm0.054$	$+65 \pm 7$

Table 4.1:Particle size, PdI and zeta potential of CS/CRG NPs (mean  $\pm$  SD;  $n \ge 4$ ). Note: These data were previously shown in the final project for UC Projeto.

The first observation of relevance is that the presence of a higher proportion of CS in the formulations resulted in a general decrease of particle size (p < 0.05). The reduction

totalizes about 300 nm, as CS/CRG = 2/1 NPs registered a size of 919 nm and CS/CRG = 6/1 reached 618 nm (p < 0.05). The increase in size of the NPs can be related to the incorporation of increasing amounts of CRG from CS/CRG = 6/1 to 2/1, since CRG is a large polymer and, thus, higher amounts will lead to larger particles. The decrease in size was accompanied by a decrease in the PdI, which indicates a more homogenous formulation. When it comes to zeta potential, all formulations laid around +65 - +70 mV.

Similar results were described in other studies of the research group involving CS/CRG NPs (101,102). However, despite the observed trend of NP size behaviour, nominal results were considerably different. Considering just CS/CRG mass ratios of 4/1 to 6/1, which were those described in other works, significantly larger NPs were obtained in the present work, of 600-700 nm, comparing with the described 430 - 580 nm (101,102). This variation can be ascribed to the use of polymers with different characteristics (molecular weight, deacetylation degree of CS) and/or providers, as even inter-batch variability is known to occur in natural materials. The zeta potential reported in the referred works was also highly positive.

In another line of the work performed with the CS/CRG NPs reported in the present work, the effect of adjusting the pH of the polymer solutions prior to the preparation of the NPs was tested, as it is known that NPs produced by polyelectrolyte complexation are naturally sensitive to pH variations (107). The pH value of the polymeric solutions was adjusted to 4 and it was observed that the adjustment enabled the production of NPs with smaller particle size (p < 0.05), lower PdI (p < 0.05) and decreased zeta potential (p < 0.05). These results were part of a work developed in the context of the course "Projeto" of the Integrated Master in Pharmaceutical Sciences.

# 4.2 Evaluation of the effect of polymer concentration and salt inclusion in the CS/CRG nanoparticles

The literature indicates that the addition of salts in the formulation has a possible effect on the production of PECs (108,109). Therefore, studying this parameter was deemed appealing and adequate in order to complement previous research that was conducted in the research group, dealing with the conditions providing the formulation of

CS/CRG NPs. Thus, studying the effect of salt addition on the production of CS/CRG, along with the influence of the concentration of the used polymers, became the main goal of the present work.

Preliminary studies and the analysis of bibliography related with the use of polysaccharides in nanotechnology, indicated the need to purify the polymers selected as NP matrix materials. In this case, it is typical to observe the presence of proteins and other components which elimination is granted with the purification of the polymer. Additionally, a previous study confirmed that pH variation affects NP formulation and, therefore, it was decided to maintain the pH of the polymeric solution at 4, which enables the ionisation of CS and does not limit the solubilisation of CRG. Purified CS and CRG were thus used in the production of the NPs and the pH of the intervening solutions was kept at 4 in all cases. The main objective of the study was to verify if the addition of salt in the formulation, along with pre-determined concentrations of the polymers, would translate into different physicochemical characteristics of NPs. For this purpose, the salts NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were tested. This selection permitted having one salt with monovalent ions (NaCl) and two salts with divalent cation (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) and anion (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). The association of the salt was performed directly in the polymeric solutions before the formation of NPs, as was detailed in the methods section. For all three salts, two different concentrations were tested. These correspond to the maximum concentration that could be dissolved in the polymeric solutions and based on that, a half-concentration was calculated and used. Naturally, the solubility of the salts is not the same and, thus, different salt concentrations were used in each case. For each salt, several NP formulations were prepared, according to the conditions (volumes, concentrations) that were specified in the experimental design. Those conditions are detailed in Tables 7.1 to 7.3 of the annexes. The physicochemical characteristics (size, zeta potential) of the individual formulations are described in Table 7.4 of the annexes section. From the individual results obtained upon the addition of each salt, 3D surface plots (X;Y;Z) were constructed, showing the effect of the polymer concentration and the salt concentration of the resulting NPs. These graphics have two independent variables (X and Y), which represent the concentration of CS and CRG, and one dependent variable (Z) which is either the particle size or the zeta potential.

#### 4.2.1 Effect on size

The effect of the polymer concentrations and of the inclusion of salts, at different concentrations, on the size of NPs was studied. CS/CRG NPs were formulated in the absence of salt, showing a size that varied between 132 nm to 937 nm throughout the study. In such NPs, particle sizes generally increased with the increase of the amount of CS. However, when CS concentration was kept constant and CRG varied, the sizes suffered no significant alterations, which suggests that CRG did not affect the parameter.

The results obtained upon inclusion of salts are displayed below in several sequential figures, divided as a function of the salt. Each figure shows the observations for the condition of associating either the lower concentration of salt (figures "a") or the higher concentration of salt (figures "b"). The overall analysis of the results and their statistical significance indicated that the established mathematical model was significant in all cases (p < 0.05). However, it was also transversally observed for each salt, a significance of the lack of fit of the model (p < 0.05). This may be a consequence of the inadequacy of the polynomial model for the obtained data or it can also be caused by the existence of important terms that are at present unknown and were not included in the model.

Figure 4.1 shows the results corresponding to the study of the inclusion of NaCl. The most visible and transversal observation is that, independently of the salt concentration that is added, the concentration of CRG has no effect on the size, as for a fixed concentration of CS and while varying CRG concentration, the NPs size remained practically unaltered. This was not reported in previous works (101,102) or in the results obtained in the research made for the course "Projeto" of the Integrated Master in Pharmaceutical Sciences. However, many parameters were changed in this study, mainly with the addition of salts, use of HCl as medium in all solutions and a different range of polymer concentrations. The concentration of CS was thus observed to rule the effect of size variation. In Figure 4.1a, which displays the results obtained upon inclusion of NaCl 0.5 M, it is observed that NPs' size varied within 190 nm and 520 nm, approximately, with larger NPs being obtained for higher concentrations of CS. However, the analysis of the whole range of concentrations indicates a certain inversion of the trend and, while for

lower concentrations, the increase in CS concentration led to a decrease in size, at higher CS concentrations, the size increased again.



*Figure 4.1: Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and NaCl inclusion. a) Particle size with NaCl 0.5 M; b) Particle size with NaCl 1 M.* 

Upon the inclusion of NaCl 1 M in the formulation (Figure 4.1b) an opposite effect was seen regarding the evolution of NP size with the variation of CS amount. Under these conditions, the NPs' size varied within 176 nm 625 nm, and larger NPs were obtained for lower concentrations of CS. A certain inversion of the trend of size evolution was also seen in this case. It is of interest to note that the trend observed for the lower concentration of salt is similar to that observed in the absence of salt (data not shown), while the inclusion of the higher amount led to opposite observations.

The addition of  $CaCl_2$  to NP formulations let to a rather different size behaviour, as shown below in Figure 4.2. While CRG showed again no contribution to the size of the NPs, the inclusion of a low concentration of  $CaCl_2$  (0.015 M, Figure 4.2a) resulted in a linear increase of the NPs' size with the increase of CS concentration, varying between 390 nm and 640 nm, approximately. This effect is quite similar to that observed in the absence of salt (data not shown).



Figure 4.2:Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and  $CaCl_2$  inclusion. a) Particle size with  $CaCl_2$  0.015 M; b) Particle size with  $CaCl_2$  0.030 M.

Curiously, the addition of CaCl<sub>2</sub> 0.030M in the formulation (Figure 4.2b) resulted in an opposite effect. Under these conditions, the NPs' size varied between 400 nm and 680 nm, and size decreased with the increase of CS concentration. This effect could be a result of the capacity of the salt to increase the intermolecular links established in the polymeric chains, leading to a certain crosslinking effect and, thus, decreasing the particle size. However, in that case, there is a concentration-limiting effect ruling the observation.

Finally, the inclusion of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> had a somewhat different result. In fact, in this case the evolution of the size followed a similar pattern with the inclusion of any of the tested salt concentrations (Figure 4.3), which was also similar to that observed in the absence of salt (data not shown). In all cases, the NPs' size decreased with the increase of CS concentration at lower CS concentrations, but increased with the increase of CS concentration when higher concentrations were tested. The greater difference in the behaviour refers to the nominal sizes that were obtained. In the absence of salt, maximum size of 937 nm was observed. The lower salt concentration resulted in NPs within 460 nm and 1  $\mu$ m roughly, but the higher salt concentration did not permit obtaining NPs, as the registered sizes were above 930 nm in all cases. One possible justification for the similar trend of size evolution through the different conditions, would be the lower concentrations of salt that were used (up to 0.006 M). However, if that was the case, it

would also be expected that the obtained size ranges did not vary as much, contrary to what is seen. Despite these observations, the concentration of CRG had again no effect in the NPs size.



*Figure 4.3: Particle size (nm) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and Na*<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> *inclusion. a) Particle size with Na*<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> *0.003 M; b) Particle size with Na*<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> *0.006 M* 

Several important findings can be retained from this study, being 1) the absence of effect of CRG concentration on NP size, which is clearly ruled by CS concentration, 2) the observation that the inclusion of  $Na_2SO_4$  hampers the formation of nanosized carriers, even at very low concentration such as 0.006M, 3) for salts resulting in NPs production, there was an inversion in the evolution of NP size with variation of CS concentration when the concentration of both NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> in the formulations increased.

#### 4.2.2 Zeta potential

In this section, the effect of the variables on the zeta potential of NPs was studied. CS/CRG NPs formulated in the absence of salt showed a zeta potential that varied between -15 mV and +41 mV throughout the study. In these NPs, the zeta potential increased with the increase of CS concentration, which is expected, owing to CS amino

groups that are positively charged. The impact of CRG in the zeta potential was only clearly noticeable when its concentration was much higher than that of CS, in which case the zeta potential assumed a negative value, which is in accordance with CRG negatively charged sulphate groups. On the contrary, when CS and CRG had the same concentration or CS had higher concentration than CRG, the zeta potential was always positive. Taking into account that: (1) CS was considered to have 0.8 positive charges per monomer, corresponding to a mean degree of deacetylation of 80%, and a molecular weight of 199 g/mol and, (2) CRG was considered to have 1 negative charge per dimer and to be in the form of sodium salt, with a molecular weight of 408 g/mol, we can conclude that CS has  $4.03 \times 10^{-3}$  charges/g, while CRG has  $2.45 \times 10^{-3}$  charges/g. Therefore, it is logical that CS has higher impact on zeta potential than CRG, as a consequence of its higher charge density.

The results of the addition of each salt are presented below, in several successive figures. Similarly to the section above, each figure shows the observations for the condition of associating either the lower concentration of salt (figures "a") or the maximum concentration of salt (figures "b"). The overall analysis of the results and their statistical significance indicated that the established mathematical model was once again significant in all cases (p < 0.05). In the study of the addition of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, it was observed a significant lack of fit of the model(p < 0.05), which may be a consequence of the inadequacy of the polynomial model for the obtained data, as referred previously.

Figure 4.4 shows the results corresponding to the inclusion of NaCl in the formulations. It is observed in a) that, with NaCl 0.5 M, zeta potential values vary between -20 mV and +15 mV, approximately, which shows some decrease when compared to the values obtained in the absence of salt, regarding the positive range. This can be explained by the fact that the addition of salt increases the electrolyte concentration of the aqueous medium, leading to compression of the double layer which causes the zeta potential to be lower (29). As for the trend in evolution of the zeta potential, it increases with the increase of CS amount, which makes sense since CS contributes with positive charges from its amino groups. Continuing with this line of thinking, a decrease of zeta potential would be expected with the increase of CRG, since this polymer contributes with negative charges from its sulphate groups. Nevertheless, this was not observed.



Figure 4.4: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and NaCl inclusion. a) Zeta potential with NaCl 0.5 M; b) Zeta potential with NaCl 1 M.

The inclusion of NaCl 1 M in the formulation (Figure 4.4b) results in zeta potential values varying within -26 mV and +32 mV. This also shows some decrease when compared to the absence of salt, but not as noticeable as with lower salt concentration. Interestingly, the pattern of evolution of the zeta potential was very similar upon the inclusion of both salt concentrations. However, the increase in the concentration of the salt, led to more accentuated profiles. That is, higher zeta potential was observed when higher amount of CS was present, but the inclusion of more salt, permitted reaching higher values (+32 mV of maximum value comparing with +15 mV when half concentration of salt was present). Moreover, for a determined concentration of CS, the increase in CRG led to an unexpected increase in zeta potential, as commented before. This behaviour was even more visible when higher amount of Salt was included, as if the presence of the salt somehow impeded or limited the interaction of CS amino groups with the sulphate groups of CRG, which typically results in charge neutralisation. Interestingly, this zeta potential effect was not observed in the absence of salt, where the concentration of CRG practically did not affect the zeta potential of NPs (data not shown).

When the study was performed using  $CaCl_2$  (Figure 4.5), it was concluded that the salt had no effect on the results. A somewhat similar trend of zeta potential evolution was seen comparing with NaCl, as this increased with the increase of CS concentration,

varying within -10 mV and +45 mV. However, the whole profile is exactly the same independently of the salt concentration (Figure 4.5b) and similar to that observed in the absence of salt. It could be the case that the concentration of salt used in the study is not enough to promote a change in the electrical layer that leads to changes in zeta potential. However, it is noticeable that the higher concentration had significant impact in the NPs size, thus suggesting that the salt had some kind of effect on NP formation, although not visible in the charge parameter.



Figure 4.5: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and  $CaCl_2$  inclusion. a) Zeta potential with  $CaCl_2$  0.015 M; b) Zeta potential with  $CaCl_2$  0.030 M.

The inclusion of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> generally resulted in carriers of very large size, in many cases in the micrometric range, especially when the higher salt concentration was used. Nevertheless, the obtained carriers were characterised regarding both size, as detailed above, and zeta potential. The results obtained for this salt (Figure 4.6.) were very similar to those obtained for CaCl<sub>2</sub> when it comes to the evolution of zeta potential with the variation of CS and CRG. However, in this case the zeta potential decreased with the increase of concentration of salt and reached values of -20 mV, -25 mV, which is clearly above that registered after inclusion of CaCl<sub>2</sub>. The increase in the salt concentration led to a slight intensification of the negative charge, from -20 mV to -25 mV, which correspond to the maximal values. Additionally, the addition of salt also induced lower charge than that determined in the absence of salt (around -15 mV).



Figure 4.6: Zeta potential (mV) as a function of polymer (Chit: chitosan, Carrag: carrageenan) concentration and  $Na_2SO_4$  inclusion. a) Zeta potential with  $Na_2SO_4$  0.003 M; b) Zeta potential with  $Na_2SO_4$  0.006 M

Differences in zeta potential, when compared to values obtained in the absence of salt, were more easily seen with the addition of NaCl than with the addition of the other two salts. The concentrations used for CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in this study might not have been enough to affect the complexation of the polyelectrolytes and originate a pronounced difference. As the concentration of the salts were not liable to increase, since they were at the highest concentration possible that guaranteed polymer solubility, other salts could be tested in the future.

### 5 Conclusion

In this work, NPs composed of CS and CRG were produced and characterized to study the effect of polymer concentration in NP formation. Moreover, three salts, NaCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, were further added to the formulations in order to study the effect of their addition and varying concentrations.

It was found that, in the absence of salt, larger NPs were formed when higher amounts of CS were present in the formulations. However, the opposite was seen once NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> were added, with NPs being larger at lower concentrations of CS. As for Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, its inclusion hindered the formation of nano-sized carries in many formulations, resulting in particles with as large as 1500 nm. It was also observed that the concentration of CRG has no effect on NPs size, which appears to be ruled by CS concentration. As expected, the zeta potential generally increased with the increase of CS amount, owing to its positively charged amino groups. However, when CaCl<sub>2</sub> was present in the formulation, no differences were seen between the NPs formed in the absence and presence of the salt. In the presence of NaCl, lower zeta potential was observed overall when comparing with NPs formed without salt. A similar effect was seen with the addition of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, even if the obtained carriers could not be categorised as NPs in many cases.

Even though the obtained results permitted the establishment of significant mathematical models, allowing to have a tool to predict the characteristics of the NPs according to the production parameters, the lack of fit in most cases was also significant, which indicates the need to improve the model. It is thus considered that optimisations in the study design would favour more consistent results, which opens possibilities for future research.

### 6 References

- 1. Sartorius N. The paths of medicine: The meanings of health and its promotion. Croat Med J. 2006;47:662–4.
- 2. World Health Organization. Constitution of the World Health Organization. Am J Public Health. 1946;36:1315.
- Das E. Causation of diseases | National Health Portal of India [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Apr 13]. Available from: https://www.nhp.gov.in/causation-ofdiseases\_mtl
- 4. M. Last J. A dictionary of public health. 1st ed. M. Last J, editor. Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 5. Hewa S. Theories of disease causation: Social epidemiology and epidemiological transition. Gall Med J. 2015;20(2):1–8.
- 6. White K. Medical model of illness. Turner BS, editor. Wiley Blackwell Encycl Soc Theory. 2017;3:1025–564.
- 7. Leventhal H, Cameron L. Behavioral theories and the problem of compliance. Patient Educ Couns. 1987;10(2):117–38.
- 8. Sun DZ, Li SD, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Mei R, Yang MH. Differences in the origin of philosophy between Chinese medicine and western medicine: Exploration of the holistic advantages of Chinese medicine. Chin J Integr Med. 2013;19(9):706–11.
- 9. Wade DT, Halligan PW. Do biomedical models of illness make for good healthcare systems? Br Med J. 2004;329(7479):1398–401.
- 10. Farre A, Rapley T. The new old (and old new) medical model: Four decades navigating the biomedical and psychosocial understandings of health and illness. Healthcare. 2017;5(4):88.
- 11. Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for miomedicine. Science (80-). 1977;196(4286):129–36.
- 12. Engel GL. A unified concept of health and disease. Perspect Biol Med. 1960;3(4):459–85.
- 13. Engel GL. The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. Am J Psychiatry. 1980;137(5):535–44.
- 14. Wade DT, Halligan PW. The biopsychosocial model of illness: A model whose time has come. Clin Rehabil. 2017;31(8):995–1004.
- 15. Jones DS, Podolsky SH, Greene JA. The burden of disease and the changing task of medicine. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(25):2333–8.
- 16. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;9–12.
- 17. Mara D, Lane J, Scott B, Trouba D. Sanitation and Health. Plos Med. 2010;7(11):1–7.

- Mortality and cause of death, 1900 vs. 2010 [Internet]. Carolina Demography. [cited 2020 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.ncdemography.org/2014/06/16/mortality-and-cause-of-death-1900v-2010/
- 19. Alvarez MM, Aizenberg J, Analoui M, Andrews AM, Bisker G, Boyden ES, et al. Emerging trends in micro- and nanoscale technologies in medicine: From basic discoveries to translation. ACS Nano. 2017;11(6):5195–214.
- 20. Food and Drug Administration. Considering whether an FDA-regulated product involves the application of nanotechnology: Guidance for industry. 2014.
- 21. Saini R, Saini S, Sharma S. Nanotechnology: The future medicine. J Cutan Aesthet Surg. 2010;3(1):32.
- 22. Park K. Facing the truth about nanotechnology in drug delivery. ACS Nano. 2013;7(9):7442–7.
- 23. Scicluna MC, Vella-Zarb L. Evolution of nanocarrier drug-delivery systems and recent advancements in covalent organic framework-drug systems. ACS Appl Nano Mater. 2020;3(4):3097–115.
- 24. Tiwari G, Tiwari R, Bannerjee S, Bhati L, Pandey S, Pandey P, et al. Drug delivery systems: An updated review. Int J Pharm Investig. 2012;2(1):2.
- 25. De Jong WH, Borm PJA. Drug delivery and nanoparticles: Applications and hazards. Int J ofDe Jong W H, Borm, P J A (2008) Drug Deliv nanoparticles Appl hazards Int J Nanomedicine, 3(2), 133–149 Nanomedicine. 2008;3(2):133–49.
- 26. Nicolas J, Mura S, Brambilla D, MacKiewicz N, Couvreur P. Design, functionalization strategies and biomedical applications of targeted biodegradable/biocompatible polymer-based nanocarriers for drug delivery. Chem Soc Rev. 2013;42(3):1147–235.
- 27. Singh AP, Biswas A, Shukla A, Maiti P. Targeted therapy in chronic diseases using nanomaterial-based drug delivery vehicles. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2019;4:1–21.
- Banik BL, Fattahi P, Brown JL. Polymeric nanoparticles: the future of nanomedicine. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomedicine Nanobiotechnology. 2016;8(2):271–99.
- 29. Aulton ME, Taylor KMG. Aulton's pharmaceutics: The design and manufacture of medicines. 5th ed. Aulton ME, Taylor KMG, editors. Aulton's Pharmaceutics. Elsevier Ltd.; 2018.
- Mourdikoudis S, Pallares RM, Thanh NTK. Characterization techniques for nanoparticles: Comparison and complementarity upon studying nanoparticle properties. Nanoscale. 2018;10:12871–934.
- 31. Christian P, Von Der Kammer F, Baalousha M, Hofmann T. Nanoparticles: Structure, properties, preparation and behaviour in environmental media. Ecotoxicology. 2008;17:326–43.

- 32. Mohamad AT, Kaur J, Sidik NAC, Rahman S. Nanoparticles: A review on their synthesis, characterization and physicochemical properties for energy technology industry. J Adv Res Fluid Mech Therm Sci. 2018;46(1):1–10.
- 33. Khan I, Saeed K, Khan I. Nanoparticles: Properties, applications and toxicities. Arab J Chem. 2017;12(7):908–31.
- 34. Cheng CJ, Tietjen GT, Saucier-Sawyer JK, Saltzman WM. A holistic approach to targeting disease with polymeric nanoparticles. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(4):239–47.
- 35. Elsabahy M, Wooley KL. Design of polymeric nanoparticles for biomedical delivery applications. Chem Soc Rev. 2012;41(7):2545–61.
- 36. Bebianno MJ, Rocha TL, Pontes JF, Amaral AC, Grenha A. Potential ecotoxicological risk of nanopharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. In: Nanopharmaceuticals: Principles and Applications. Springer; 2020. p. 289–317.
- 37. Cherng-ju K. Polymer science. In: Advanced pharmaceutics: Physicochemical principles. 1st ed. CRC Press; 2004. p. 492–4.
- 38. Younes I, Rinaudo M. Chitin and chitosan preparation from marine sources. Structure, properties and applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(3):1133–74.
- 39. Muxika A, Etxabide A, Uranga J, Guerrero P, de la Caba K. Chitosan as a bioactive polymer: Processing, properties and applications. Int J Biol Macromol. 2017;105:1358–68.
- 40. Abdel-Rahman RM, Hrdina R, Abdel-Mohsen AM, Fouda MMG, Soliman AY, Mohamed FK, et al. Chitin and chitosan from Brazilian Atlantic Coast: Isolation, characterization and antibacterial activity. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;80:107–20.
- 41. Shukla SK, Mishra AK, Arotiba OA, Mamba BB. Chitosan-based nanomaterials: A state-of-the-art review. Int J Biol Macromol. 2013;59:46–58.
- 42. White SA, Farina PR, Fulton I. Production and isolation of chitosan from Mucor rouxii. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1979;38(2):323–8.
- 43. Pareek N, Vivekanand V, Agarwal P, Saroj S, Singh RP. Bioconversion to chitosan: A two stage process employing chitin deacetylase from Penicillium oxalicum SAEM-51. Carbohydr Polym. 2013;96(2):417–25.
- 44. Bautista-Baños S, Romanazzi G, Jiménez-Aparicio A. Chitosan in the Preservation of Agricultural Commodities. 1st ed. Chitosan in the Preservation of Agricultural Commodities. Elsevier Inc.; 2016. 3–31 p.
- 45. Bernkop-Schnürch A, Dünnhaupt S. Chitosan-based drug delivery systems. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2012;81(3):463–9.
- 46. Mujeeb Rahman P, Muraleedaran K, Mujeeb VMA. Applications of chitosan powder with in situ synthesized nano ZnO particles as an antimicrobial agent. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;77:266–72.
- 47. Park S-C, Nam J-P, Kim J-H, Kim Y-M, Nah J-W, Jang M-K. Antimicrobial action

of water-soluble  $\beta$ -chitosan against clinical multi-drug resistant bacteria. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(4):7995–8007.

- 48. Fan L, Yang J, Wu H, Hu Z, Yi J, Tong J, et al. Preparation and characterization of quaternary ammonium chitosan hydrogel with significant antibacterial activity. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;79:830–6.
- 49. Sahariah P, Benediktssdóttir BE, Hjálmarsdóttir MA, Sigurjonsson OE, Sørensen KK, Thygesen MB, et al. Impact of chain length on antibacterial activity and hemocompatibility of quaternary N-alkyl and N, N-dialkyl chitosan derivatives. Biomacromolecules. 2015;16(5):1449–60.
- 50. Younes I, Sellimi S, Rinaudo M, Jellouli K, Nasri M. Influence of acetylation degree and molecular weight of homogeneous chitosans on antibacterial and antifungal activities. Int J Food Microbiol. 2014;185:57–63.
- 51. Tayel AA, Moussa SH, Salem MF, Mazrou KE, El-Tras WF. Control of citrus molds using bioactive coatings incorporated with fungal chitosan/plant extracts composite. J Sci Food Agric. 2016;96(4):1306–12.
- 52. Saharan V, Sharma G, Yadav M, Choudhary MK, Sharma SS, Pal A, et al. Synthesis and in vitro antifungal efficacy of Cu-chitosan nanoparticles against pathogenic fungi of tomato. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;75:346–53.
- 53. Wang LS, Wang CY, Yang CH, Hsieh CL, Chen SY, Shen CY, et al. Synthesis and anti-fungal effect of silver nanoparticles–chitosan composite particles. Int J Nanomedicine. 2015;10:2685–96.
- 54. Chatterjee S, Chatterjee BP, Guha AK. A study on antifungal activity of watersoluble chitosan against Macrophomina phaseolina. Int J Biol Macromol. 2014;67:452–7.
- 55. Gabriel JDS, Tiera MJ, Tiera VADO. Synthesis, characterization, and antifungal activities of amphiphilic derivatives of diethylaminoethyl chitosan against Aspergillus flavus. J Agric Food Chem. 2015;63(24):5725–31.
- 56. Park JK, Chung MJ, Choi HN, Park Y II. Effects of the molecular weight and the degree of deacetylation of chitosan oligosaccharides on antitumor activity. Int J Mol Sci. 2011;12(1):266–77.
- 57. Gibot L, Chabaud S, Bouhout S, Bolduc S, Auger FA, Moulin VJ. Anticancer properties of chitosan on human melanoma are cell line dependent. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;75:370–9.
- 58. He B, Tao HY, Liu SQ. Neuroprotective effects of carboxymethylated chitosan on hydrogen peroxide induced apoptosis in Schwann cells. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;740:127–34.
- 59. Wan A, Xu Q, Sun Y, Li H. Antioxidant activity of high molecular weight chitosan and N,O-quaternized chitosans. J Agric Food Chem. 2013;61(28):6921–8.
- Ruiz-Navajas Y, Viuda-Martos M, Sendra E, Perez-Alvarez JA, Fernández-López J. In vitro antibacterial and antioxidant properties of chitosan edible films incorporated with Thymus moroderi or Thymus piperella essential oils. Food

Control. 2013;30(2):386–92.

- 61. Luan F, Wei L, Zhang J, Tan W, Chen Y, Dong F, et al. Preparation and characterization of quaternized chitosan derivatives and assessment of their antioxidant activity. Molecules. 2018;23(3):516–29.
- 62. Cheung RCF, Ng TB, Wong JH, Chan WY. Chitosan: An update on potential biomedical and pharmaceutical applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(8):5156–86.
- 63. Zou P, Yang X, Wang J, Li Y, Yu H, Zhang Y, et al. Advances in characterisation and biological activities of chitosan and chitosan oligosaccharides. Food Chem. 2016;190(12):1174–81.
- 64. Levengood SKL, Zhang M. Chitosan-based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Chem B. 2014;2:3161–84.
- 65. Dai T, Tanaka M, Huang YY, Hamblin MR. Chitosan preparations for wounds and burns: Antimicrobial and wound-healing effects. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2011;9(7):857–79.
- 66. Hansson A, Di Francesco T, Falson F, Rousselle P, Jordan O, Borchard G. Preparation and evaluation of nanoparticles for directed tissue engineering. Int J Pharm. 2012;439:73–80.
- 67. Ahmed S, Ikram S. Chitosan based scaffolds and their applications in wound healing. Achiev Life Sci. 2016;10:27–37.
- 68. Vakili M, Rafatullah M, Salamatinia B, Abdullah AZ, Ibrahim MH, Tan KB, et al. Application of chitosan and its derivatives as adsorbents for dye removal from water and wastewater: A review. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;113:115–30.
- 69. Zhang J, Chen N, Tang Z, Yu Y, Hu Q, Feng C. A study of the mechanism of fluoride adsorption from aqueous solutions onto Fe-impregnated chitosan. Phys Chem Chem Phys. 2015;17(18):12041–50.
- 70. Wang Y, Shi L, Gao L, Wei Q, Cui L, Hu L, et al. The removal of lead ions from aqueous solution by using magnetic hydroxypropyl chitosan/oxidized multiwalled carbon nanotubes composites. J Colloid Interface Sci. 2015;451:7–14.
- 71. Sivakami MS, Gomathi T, Venkatesan J, Jeong HS, Kim SK, Sudha PN. Preparation and characterization of nano chitosan for treatment wastewaters. Int J Biol Macromol. 2013;57:204–12.
- 72. Hernández-González SO, González-Ortiz M, Martínez-Abundis E, Robles-Cervantes JA. Chitosan improves insulin sensitivity as determined by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp technique in obese subjects. Nutr Res. 2010;30(6):392–5.
- 73. Egras AM, Hamiltom WR, Lenz TL, Monaghan MS. An evidence-based review of fat modifying supplemental weight loss products. J Obes. 2010;2011:1–7.
- 74. Si X, Strappe P, Blanchard C, Zhou Z. Enhanced anti-obesity effects of complex of resistant starch and chitosan in high fat diet fed rats. Carbohydr Polym. 2017;157:834–41.

- 75. Walsh AM, Sweeney T, Bahar B, O'Doherty J V. Multi-functional roles of chitosan as a potential protective agent against obesity. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):1–7.
- 76. Elgadir MA, Uddin MS, Ferdosh S, Adam A, Chowdhury AJK, Sarker MZI. Impact of chitosan composites and chitosan nanoparticle composites on various drug delivery systems: A review. J Food Drug Anal. 2015;23(4):619–29.
- Riva R, Ragelle H, Rieux A, Duhem N, Jérôme C, Préat V. Chitosan and chitosan derivatives in drug delivery and tissue engeneering. Adv Polym Sci. 2011;244:19– 44.
- 78. Wang JJ, Zeng ZW, Xiao RZ, Xie T, Zhou GL, Zhan XR, et al. Recent advances of chitosan nanoparticles as drug carriers. Int J Nanomedicine. 2011;6:765–74.
- Kean T, Thanou M. Chitin and chitosan: Sources, production and medical applications. In: Williams PA, editor. Renewable Resources for Functional Plymers and Biomaterials: Polysaccharides, Proteins and Polyesters. 1st ed. Poyal Society of Chemistry; 2011. p. 292–318.
- 80. Kean T, Thanou M. Biodegradation, biodistribution and toxicity of chitosan. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2010;62(1):3–11.
- 81. Banerjee T, Mitra S, Kumar Singh A, Kumar Sharma R, Maitra A. Preparation, characterization and biodistribution of ultrafine chitosan nanoparticles. Int J Pharm. 2002;243(1–2):93–105.
- 82. Banerjee T, Singh AK, Sharma RK, Maitra AN. Labeling efficiency and biodistribution of Technetium-99m labeled nanoparticles: Interference by colloidal tin oxide particles. Int J Pharm. 2005;289(1–2):189–95.
- 83. Richardson SCW, Kolbe HVJ, Duncan R. Potential of low molecular mass chitosan as a DNA delivery system: Biocompatibility, body distribution and ability to complex and protect DNA. Int J Pharm. 1999;178(2):231–43.
- 84. Zhang C, Qu G, Sun Y, Yang T, Yao Z, Shen W, et al. Biological evaluation of Noctyl-O-sulfate chitosan as a new nano-carrier of intravenous drugs. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2008;33(4–5):415–23.
- 85. Zhang C, Qu G, Sun Y, Wu X, Yao Z, Guo Q, et al. Pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, efficacy and safety of N-octyl-O-sulfate chitosan micelles loaded with paclitaxel. Biomaterials. 2008;29(9):1233–41.
- 86. Chae SY, Jang MK, Nah JW. Influence of molecular weight on oral absorption of water soluble chitosans. J Control Release. 2005;102(2):383–94.
- Sonaje K, Lin YH, Juang JH, Wey SP, Chen CT, Sung HW. In vivo evaluation of safety and efficacy of self-assembled nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery. Biomaterials. 2009;30(12):2329–39.
- Elnaggar YSR, Etman SM, Abdelmonsif DA, Abdallah OY. Intranasal piperineloaded chitosan nanoparticles as brain-targeted therapy in alzheimer's disease: Optimization, biological efficacy, and potential toxicity. J Pharm Sci. 2015;104(10):3544–56.

- 89. Hu YL, Qi W, Han F, Shao JZ, Gao JQ. Toxicity evaluation of biodegradable chitosan nanoparticles using a zebrafish embryo model. Int J Nanomedicine. 2011;6:3351–9.
- 90. Szymańska E, Winnicka K. Stability of chitosan A challenge for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(4):1819–46.
- Pereira L. A review of the nutrient composition of selected edible seaweeds. In: Pomin VH, editor. Seaweed: Ecology, Nutrient Composition and Medicinal Used. 1st ed. Nova Science Publishers Inc; 2011. p. 15–35.
- 92. Khalil A, Tye YY, Nurul Fazita MR. A review of extractions of seaweed hydrocolloids: Properties and applications. Express Polym Lett. 2018;12(4):296–317.
- 93. Zia KM, Tabasum S, Nasif M, Sultan N, Aslam N, Noreen A, et al. A review on synthesis, properties and applications of natural polymer based carrageenan blends and composites. Int J Biol Macromol. 2017;96:282–301.
- 94. Li L, Ni R, Shao Y, Mao S. Carrageenan and its applications in drug delivery. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;103:1–11.
- 95. Pereira L, Van De Velde F. Portuguese carrageenophytes: Carrageenan composition and geographic distribution of eight species (Gigartinales, Rhodophyta). Carbohydr Polym. 2011;84(1):614–23.
- 96. Pereira L, Amado AM, Critchley AT, van de Velde F, Ribeiro-Claro PJA. Identification of selected seaweed polysaccharides (phycocolloids) by vibrational spectroscopy (FTIR-ATR and FT-Raman). Food Hydrocoll. 2009;23(7):1903–9.
- 97. Bono A, Anisuzzaman SM, Ding OW. Effect of process conditions on the gel viscosity and gel strength of semi-refined carrageenan (SRC) produced from seaweed (Kappaphycus alvarezii). J King Saud Univ Eng Sci. 2014;26(1):3–9.
- 98. Oun AA, Rhim JW. Carrageenan-based hydrogels and films: Effect of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles on the physical, mechanical, and antimicrobial properties. Food Hydrocoll. 2017;67:45–53.
- 99. Yegappan R, Selvaprithiviraj V, Amirthalingam S, Jayakumar R. Carrageenan based hydrogels for drug delivery, tissue engineering and wound healing. Carbohydr Polym. 2018;198:385–400.
- 100. Liu J, Zhan X, Wan J, Wang Y, Wang C. Review for carrageenan-based pharmaceutical biomaterials: Favourable physical features versus adverse biological effects. Carbohydr Polym. 2015;121:27–36.
- 101. Grenha A, Gomes ME, Rodrigues M, Santo VE, Mano JF, Neves NM, et al. Development of new chitosan/carrageenan nanoparticles for drug delivery applications. J Biomed Mater Res Part A. 2010;92(4):1265–72.
- 102. Rodrigues S, Costa AMR, Grenha A. Chitosan/carrageenan nanoparticles: Effect of cross-linking with tripolyphosphate and charge ratios. Carbohydr Polym. 2012;89(1):282–9.

- Necas J, Bartosikova L. Carrageenan: a review. Vet Med (Praha). 2013;58(4):187– 205.
- Campo VL, Kawano DF, Silva DB da, Carvalho I. Carrageenans: Biological properties, chemical modifications and structural analysis - A review. Carbohydr Polym. 2009;77:167–80.
- 105. Grenha A. Chitosan nanoparticles: A survey of preparation methods. J Drug Target. 2012;20(4):291–300.
- 106. Jha PK, Desai PS, Li J, Larson RG. pH and salt effects on the associative phase separation of oppositely charged polyelectrolytes. Polymers (Basel). 2014;6(5):1414–36.
- 107. Quiñones JP, Peniche H, Peniche C. Chitosan based self-assembled nanoparticles in drug delivery. Polymers (Basel). 2018;10(3):235.
- Meka VS, Sing MKG, Pichika MR, Nali SR, Kolapalli VRM, Kesharwani P. A comprehensive review on polyelectrolyte complexes. Drug Discov Today. 2017;22(11):1697–706.
- 109. Perry SL, Li Y, Priftis D, Leon L, Tirrell M. The effect of salt on the complex coacervation of vinyl polyelectrolytes. Polymers (Basel). 2014;6(6):1756–72.
- 110. Nagavarma BVN, Yadav HKS, Ayaz A, Vasudha LS, Shivakumar HG. Different techniques for preparation of polymeric nanoparticles- A review. Asian J Pharm Clin Res. 2012;5(3):16–23.
- 111. Wu D, Zhu L, Li Y, Zhang X, Xu S, Yang G, et al. Chitosan-based colloidal polyelectrolyte complexes for drug delivery: A Review. Carbohydr Polym. 2020;238:116126.
- 112. Cunha L, Grenha A. Sulfated seaweed polysaccharides as multifunctional materials in drug delivery applications. Mar Drugs. 2016;14(3):42.
- 113. Li H, Lu Y, Xiang J, Jiang H, Zhong Y, Lu Y. Enhancement of immunogenic response and protection in model rats by CSTM nanoparticles anticaries DNA vaccine. Nanomedicine. 2016;11(11):1407–16.
- 114. Biswas S, Chattopadhyay M, Sen KK, Saha MK. Development and characterization of alginate coated low molecular weight chitosan nanoparticles as new carriers for oral vaccine delivery in mice. Carbohydr Polym. 2015;121:403–10.
- 115. Lee J, Kim YM, Kim JH, Cho CW, Jeon JW, Park JK, et al. Nasal delivery of chitosan/alginate nanoparticle encapsulated bee (Apis mellifera) venom promotes antibody production and viral clearance during porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection by modulating T cell related responses. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2018;200:40–51.
- 116. Braz L, Grenha A, Ferreira D, Rosa da Costa AM, Gamazo C, Sarmento B. Chitosan/sulfated locust bean gum nanoparticles: In vitro and in vivo evaluation towards an application in oral immunization. Int J Biol Macromol. 2017;96:786– 97.

- 117. Dionísio M, Cordeiro C, Remuñán-López C, Seijo B, Da Costa AMR, Grenha A. Pullulan-based nanoparticles as carriers for transmucosal protein delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2013;50(1):102–13.
- 118. Rodrigues S, Cordeiro C, Seijo B, Remuñán-López C, Grenha A. Hybrid nanosystems based on natural polymers as protein carriers for respiratory delivery: Stability and toxicological evaluation. Carbohydr Polym. 2015;123:369–80.
- 119. Maciel V, Yoshida C, Pereira S, Goycoolea F, Franco T. Electrostatic selfassembled chitosan-pectin nano- and microparticles for insulin delivery. Molecules. 2017;22(10):1707.
- 120. Ahmadi F, Ghasemi-Kasman M, Ghasemi S, Tabari MG, Pourbagher R, Kazemi S, et al. Induction of apoptosis in HeLa cancer cells by an ultrasonic-mediated synthesis of curcumin-loaded chitosan-alginate-STPP nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine. 2017;12:8545–56.
- 121. Zhang R, Ru Y, Gao Y, Li J, Mao S. Layer-by-layer nanoparticles co-loading gemcitabine and platinum (IV) prodrugs for synergistic combination therapy of lung cancer. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;Volume 11:2631–42.
- 122. Deng L, Dong H, Dong A, Zhang J. A strategy for oral chemotherapy via dual pHsensitive polyelectrolyte complex nanoparticles to achieve gastric survivability, intestinal permeability, hemodynamic stability and intracellular activity. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2015;97:107–17.
- 123. Zhao X, Liu P, Song Q, Gong N, Yang L, Wu WD. Surface charge-reversible polyelectrolyte complex nanoparticles for hepatoma-targeting delivery of doxorubicin. J Mater Chem B. 2015;3(30):6185–93.
- Foldvari M, Chen DW, Nafissi N, Calderon D, Narsineni L, Rafiee A. Non-viral gene therapy: Gains and challenges of non-invasive administration methods. J Control Release. 2016;240:165–90.
- 125. Cao S, Woodrow KA. Nanotechnology approaches to eradicating HIV reservoirs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2019;138:48–63.
- das Neves J, Amiji MM, Bahia MF, Sarmento B. Nanotechnology-based systems for the treatment and prevention of HIV/AIDS. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2010;62(4– 5):458–77.
- 127. Wu D, Ensinas A, Verrier B, Primard C, Cuvillier A, Champier G, et al. Zincstabilized colloidal polyelectrolyte complexes of chitosan/hyaluronan: A tool for the inhibition of HIV-1 infection. J Mater Chem B. 2016;4(32):5455–63.
- 128. Cheong LZ, Tan CP, Long K, Affandi Yusoff MS, Arifin N, Lo SK, et al. Production of a diacylglycerol-enriched palm olein using lipase-catalyzed partial hydrolysis: Optimization using response surface methodology. Food Chem. 2007;105(4):1614–22.

### 7 Annexes

7.1 Design of the experiment: blocks of experiments and specific conditions

		[CS] (mg/mL)	[CRG] (mg/mL)	[NaCl] (M)	V <sub>CS</sub> mL	V <sub>HCl</sub> (mL)	V <sub>1</sub> (mL)	V <sub>CRG</sub> (mL)	V <sub>HCl</sub> (mL)	V <sub>2</sub> (mL)	V <sub>total</sub> (mL)
	1	0.02	1.25	1	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	2	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
ck 1	3	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
Bloc	4	0.02	0.06	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	5	1.25	0.06	1	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	6	1.25	1.25	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	7	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	8	1.25	1.25	1	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
ck 2	9	0.02	0.06	1	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
Bloc	10	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	11	1.25	0.06	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	12	0.02	1.25	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	13	1.25	0.655	0.5	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	14	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	15	0.635	0.655	1	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
ck 3	16	0.02	0.655	0.5	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
Bloc	17	0.635	0.06	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	18	0.635	1.25	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	19	0.635	0.655	0.5	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	20	0.635	0.655	0	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00

Table 7.1: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of CS/CRG/NaCl nanoparticles.

		[CS] (mg/mL)	[CRG] (mg/mL)	[CaCl <sub>2</sub> ] (M)	V <sub>CS</sub> mL	V <sub>HCl</sub> (mL)	V <sub>1</sub> (mL)	V <sub>CRG</sub> (mL)	V <sub>HCl</sub> (mL)	V <sub>2</sub> (mL)	V <sub>total</sub> (mL)
	1	1.25	0.06	0.03	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	2	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
ck 1	3	1.25	1.25	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
Bloc	4	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	5	0.02	1.25	0.03	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	6	0.02	0.06	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	7	0.02	1.25	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	8	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
ik 2	9	1.25	0.06	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
Bloc	10	1.25	1.25	0.03	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	11	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	12	0.02	0.06	0.03	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	13	0.635	0.655	0	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	14	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	15	0.635	0.655	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
ik 3	16	0.635	1.25	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
Bloc	17	0.635	0.655	0.03	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	18	0.02	0.655	0.015	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	19	0.635	0.06	0.015	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	20	1.25	0.655	0.015	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00

Table 7.2: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of CS/CRG/CaCl<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles.

		[CS] (mg/mL)	[CRG] (mg/mL)	[Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> ] (M)	V <sub>CS</sub> mL	$V_{HCl}$ (mL)	V <sub>1</sub> (mL)	$V_{CRG}(mL)$	$V_{HCl} (mL)$	$V_2$ (mL)	V <sub>total</sub> (mL)
	1	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	2	1.25	1.25	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
ik 1	3	1.25	0.06	0.006	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
Bloc	4	0.02	1.25	0.006	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	5	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	6	0.02	0.06	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	7	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	8	1.25	1.25	0.006	1.500	0.000	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
ik 2	9	1.25	0.06	0	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
Bloc	10	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	11	0.02	1.25	0	0.024	1.476	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	12	0.02	0.06	0.006	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
	13	1.25	0.655	0.003	1.500	0.000	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	14	0.635	0.655	0	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	15	0.635	0.06	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.072	1.428	1.50	3.00
ik 3	16	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
Bloc	17	0.635	0.655	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	18	0.635	1.25	0.003	0.762	0.738	1.50	1.500	0.000	1.50	3.00
	19	0.02	0.655	0.003	0.024	1.476	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00
	20	0.635	0.655	0.006	0.762	0.738	1.50	0.786	0.714	1.50	3.00

Table 7.3: Volumes and concentrations of all components used in the preparation of CS/CRG/Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> nanoparticles.

### 7.2 Physicochemical characteristics of CS/CRG nanoparticles containing

#### salt

Table 7.4: Values of size (nm), polydispersity index (PdI) and Zeta Potential (mV) obtained for each CS/CRG/Salt test (n=1).

		CS	S/CRG/N	aCl	CS	S/CRG/C	aCl <sub>2</sub>	CS/CRG/Na <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>		
		Size	DAI	Zeta	Size	DAI	Zeta	Size	DdI	Zeta
		(nm)	rui	(mV)	(nm)	rui	(mV)	(nm)	rui	(mV)
	1	552	0.202	-1	563	0.850	+18	400	0.309	+22
	2	137	0.290	+5	417	0.354	+20	937	0.467	+41
sk 1	3	172	0.264	+7	937	0.497	+41	1763	0.379	+23
Bloc	4	132	0.269	+10	314	0.282	+42	1713	0.707	-20
	5	375	0.457	-14	1237	0.774	-4	458	0.322	+23
	6	937	0.707	+41	132	0.355	+10	132	0.252	+10
	7	138	0.251	+16	183	0.307	-15	367	0.255	+24
	8	227	0.563	+28	483	0.516	+44	1380	0.821	+16
ik 2	9	235	0.319	-21	933	0.805	+35	933	0.505	+35
Bloc	10	138	0.271	+9	592	0.478	+44	407	0.232	+22
	11	933	0.551	+35	445	0.310	+44	183	0.263	-15
	12	183	0.191	-15	292	0.389	+17	1851	0.918	0
	13	151	0.294	+10	448	0.292	+35	519	0.461	+32
	14	160	0.265	+3	366	0.253	+42	448	0.396	+35
	15	567	0.174	+25	404	0.409	+42	864	0.603	+21
ik 3	16	924	0.631	-8	430	0.401	+40	465	0.310	+22
Bloc	17	304	0.424	+11	322	0.350	+39	449	0.271	+24
	18	136	0.171	+5	568	0.547	-6	550	0.365	+20
	19	192	0.289	+11	469	0.497	+35	1290	0.744	-9
	20	448	0.260	+35	457	0.437	+37	403	0.385	+8

\*The concentrations of the polymers are those presented in Tables 7.1 to 7.3, in each corresponding block of experiments.